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Thursday, September 23, 2010


--- On commencing at 9:31 a.m.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you very much.  Please be seated.


Before we begin, let me indicate that next Tuesday, the 28th of September, there was some brief discussion about the celebration of the Board's 50th anniversary.


This room is going to be used for a portion of that commencing at 2:30, so we will have to rise at 2 o'clock on Tuesday.  What I am suggesting we do is sit through that day with a half-hour break.  That will give us pretty much as many hearing hours as we otherwise would have on that day.


So next Tuesday you can expect that we will adjourn at 2 o'clock to accommodate the 50th anniversary and a round table discussion that I am sure will be interesting, and everyone can stay for that.


Are there any preliminary matters?

Preliminary Matters:


MR. ROGERS:  Two matters, sir.  I wonder if the Board has decided about next Wednesday?


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  It does not appear that we can sit next Wednesday.


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much.  That's helpful.  I have just one preliminary matter.  These are undertaking answers which we can file this morning.


I can advise the Board that we have filed this morning Exhibit J2.1 and J2.2.  I expect to have J2.3 available later today.  Thank you.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Rogers.  Mr. Shepherd, are you next?


MR. SHEPHERD:  I am indeed, Mr. Chairman.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Good morning, panel.

HYDRO ONE NETWORKS INC. - PANEL 1, RESUMED


Peter Gregg, Previously Sworn


Nairn McQueen, Previously Sworn


Bing Young, Previously Sworn


MR. GREGG:  Good morning.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, I wonder if I could start by asking that we get an exhibit number for a document entitled "Cross-Examination Materials, Panel 1, School Energy Coalition".  It is a cerlox bound --


MS. LEA:  K3.1, please.

EXHIBIT NO. K3.1:  DOCUMENT ENTITLED "CROSS-EXAMINATION MATERIALS, PANEL 1, SCHOOL ENERGY COALITION".

MR. SHEPHERD:  This is two exhibits in the proceeding which, as it happens, we will be referring to extensively in this cross-examination.  So I thought it would be easier for the panel if you had them in a bound copy.  Everybody else has them, I think.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  These are very helpful.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I also have a document entitled "Comparison of Proposed 10-Year Transmission Rates".  This is a confidential document.  I will be referring to it later in my cross-examination, but I wonder if we can have that marked as an exhibit at this time.


MS. LEA:  KX3.2, and there is no debate about the admissibility of this?


MR. ROGERS:  No.  I couldn't get my mic on, but, no, there is not.

EXHIBIT NO. KX3.2:  DOCUMENT ENTITLED "COMPARISON OF PROPOSED 10-YEAR TRANSMISSION RATES"

MS. LEA:  I have the same trouble, Mr. Rogers.  KX3.2.


MR. ROGERS:  I would ask my friend to give us notice when this is coming up so we can take the necessary precautions.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Actually, I was going to come to that.  What I have done is I have divided my cross into two sections.  In the first section, I do not refer to any confidential documents.  The second section is essentially all confidential information, and so there is a break point at which I will advise the Panel that we should go in camera, if that is acceptable.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Very good.  Thank you.

Cross-Examination by Mr. Shepherd:


MR. SHEPHERD:  Good morning.  This is the first time I have cross-examined any of you, I think.  My name is Jay Shepherd.  I am counsel for the School Energy Coalition.


My questions today are focussed -- I am turned around the wrong way here.  I should know better.


My questions today are focussed on overall corporate policy, and, in particular, the rate impact, short term and long term, of your proposals.


But I also have a few questions on CWIP and rate base and on the recovery for Schedule A projects.


But let's -- I want to start first by looking at your five-year strategic vision.  This is found in Exhibit I, tab 7, schedule 5, which is School Energy Coalition No. 5.


Do you have that?


MR. GREGG:  I do.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It is the first tab in this --


MR. GREGG:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  -- material.  And you have the answer to the interrogatory, but attached to it as attachment 1 is a 28-page document, which is your strategic plan.  Is this your most current strategic plan?


MR. GREGG:  I believe it is, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And there have been a number of changes over the last 12 months since this was finalized, including, in fact, you have changed what you applied for in your transmission rates; right?


Are you in the process of updating this plan?


MR. GREGG:  Yes, we are.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you know what -- when that is expected to be completed?


MR. GREGG:  There is initial work happening now, but we would be going back to our board some time in the first half of 2011.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So Q2, you think?


MR. GREGG:  Could be, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Now, two of you are senior vice presidents, right, Mr. Gregg and Mr. McQueen?


MR. GREGG:  Correct.


MR. McQUEEN:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Were any of you personally involved in the drafting and preparation of this strategic vision?


MR. GREGG:  Yes, I was.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes?


MR. McQUEEN:  Yes, I was.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Were there specific sections that were your drafting, or was it a collective effort and it evolved?


MR. GREGG:  I would say a collective effort.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  This was approved by your board in 2009?


MR. GREGG:  I believe so, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you know when?


MR. GREGG:  I don't have the date for you, sir.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But it was in 2009 sometime?


MR. GREGG:  I believe that is correct, but, again, I don't have the date.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  And it has also formally been approved by your shareholder, the province?


MR. GREGG:  It is certainly something that our shareholder is made aware of.  To say that it is an approval item for the shareholder is probably going a little too far.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, your memorandum of agreement says -- I just want to find the reference here.  It is attached to the strategic vision, pages 26, 27, 28.


On 26, it says -- where is it?  Sorry.  On page 27 -- sorry, 25 of the five-year vision.  Page 25 of the five-year vision, it says:

"Hydro One will annually prepare a three- to five-year investment plan."


Is that this, by the way, or is that a separate document?


MR. GREGG:  That's a separate document.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So this includes an investment plan implicit in it, but this is not the investment plan itself?


MR. GREGG:  I believe that is the case, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So the province has not approved this vision?


MR. GREGG:  They certainly are aware of it.  They know we are operating under these principles, yes, but really it is -- management goes to our board seeking approval for the strategic vision of the company.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So if you look at the page before page 1, you have these two triangles; right?  Do you see that?


MR. GREGG:  Yes, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And I want to focus on the inverted pyramid at the bottom.  This is how you implement your plan; right?


MR. GREGG:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So you start with having the strategy, and then you do a 10-year needs outlook?


MR. GREGG:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Is that in the evidence somewhere?


MR. GREGG:  I don't believe so.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I wonder if you could undertake to file that?


MR. ROGERS:  Mr. Sommerville, I am not aware of what is in the document and I don't know whether it contains forward-looking financial information, which would be confidential.  Maybe Mr. Gregg can either help us with that now or I can take it under advisement.


MR. GREGG:  I can assure you that it does contain forward-looking financial information.


MR. ROGERS:  In that case, I would object.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I would expect that to be the case, and I am happy that it is filed in confidence.


MR. ROGERS:  Well, I object on the basis of relevance.  With respect, you can't get every single document this corporation generates internally in these public hearings.  It will go on forever.


You have heard my arguments about this.  The evidence to support this case is in the filing.  There are some –-obviously, there is some areas that are legitimate to a question, but to go fishing again for more and more documentation like this, I submit is inappropriate.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  The 10-year needs outlook, Mr. Shepherd?  What is the relevance?


MR. SHEPHERD:  A substantial part of my cross-examination is dealing with their 10-year forecast for rates for capital spending and for debt, because it is quite clear from the evidence that what they're asking for in this proceeding is the foundation for that 10-year buildup, and it is quite substantial.


And our thrust is going to be that this should be of concern to the Board, and that is all built on this needs analysis which we haven't seen.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  The Board will reserve on ruling on this requirement and we will advise the parties accordingly.


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you.  May I just observe, and I hope it is helpful just looking now, but there is a lot of 10-year forward-looking information already in the confidential filings already before the Board.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Perhaps the parties can talk and see if the material is sufficient for your purposes and is there, and in the meantime we will consider the request for an undertaking.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  I should say that the main reason we are asking for it is because of the information that is in the confidential material, and we know that the foundation of it is another document we haven't seen.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So then the next step after the 10-year needs outlook is business planning/rate filing, right?


MR. GREGG:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And maybe I am just confused here, but it looks like this visual has you doing the rate filing before you do a budget and an outlook.  Am I just misunderstanding that?


MR. GREGG:  No.  As you know, being a regulated entity, there is a lot of coordination that goes through the business planning exercise that would ultimately lead to a rate filing.


So, no, the rate filing, as you see from the evidence that we were -- we submitted on Monday, when you go back to the board memos that outlined our business planning process, that obviously the rate filing occurred after the budget and outlook occurred.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Would it be fair to say this is sort of an iterative process?  You do a preliminary budget, an outlook, you go to the Board and see what the Board will allow you to spend, and then you revise it to take account for the budget you have been given?


MR. GREGG:  There can be iterations, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So then you have a... would it be fair to say you sort of have two budgets?  You have before and after the rate case budget?  Or is it less formal than that?


MR. GREGG:  So budget going into the rate case, and once we receive a decision on the rate case, the budget after?  Is that what you're referring to?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. GREGG:  Yes, that's fair.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Now, on page 3 of this document you say -- and this is really the foundation of your whole application, the foundation of your vision, as I understand it -- you say:

"We are entering a period of major capital expansion in both transmission and distribution."


And that is a theme that your -- of your vision and of this application, right?


MR. GREGG:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  If you look a few lines down from that, you see there is a reference to:  "A worldwide expansion of infrastructure."


Now, when you are talking about that, are you talking about the response to the economic downturn, the government spending on infrastructure?  Or are you talking about a general increase in infrastructure spending, for example to change the energy infrastructure across the...


MR. GREGG:  I believe that reference was more to the latter, where it is just the -- not in response to the economic downturn, but general growth and infrastructure spending.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And part of this is a move to more renewable generation around the world?


MR. GREGG:  Certainly, part of it is the move to renewable generation in Ontario.  That is what is driving us in Ontario.


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, I am asking about the worldwide change, that a lot of that is, for example, in Europe, where a lot of renewables are being added and as a result transmission and distribution has to change, just like here, right?


MR. GREGG:  There is some of that, but there is also many jurisdictions are encountering the same issues we are with aging assets that require refurbishment and replacement.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So on this change curve, where is Ontario?  Are we at the front of the curve, this period of change?  Are we in the middle?  Are we at the back?  Where are we?


MR. GREGG:  Are you referring to green, sir, or generally?


MR. SHEPHERD:  This increase in infrastructure spending.


MR. GREGG:  I would say we are at the front of the curve.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The front of the curve?


So having a leadership position, for example in green energy, does that mean your access to goods and services in this area is easier, or harder?


MR. GREGG:  I would say it is becoming a more competitive market in certain areas.


MR. SHEPHERD:  A leadership --


MR. GREGG:  It depends on which materials we're referring to.


MR. SHEPHERD:  A leadership position means you get to the suppliers first, right?


MR. GREGG:  But again, it depends on what you are specifically referring to.  That may be the case in some circumstances, but may not be the case in other.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, one of your concerns in this application is that there is an impact on your capital costs, and maybe even your OM&A, but certainly your capital costs because there is constraints in the supply of goods and services in the transmission business, right?


MR. GREGG:  That can indeed be true, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And that's factored into your short-term budget at least, right?


MR. GREGG:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And your long-term budgets as well, you are assuming that that will continue to be an issue?


MR. GREGG:  It could be impacted by multiple factors in the longer term, but we will obviously review that as it becomes shorter-term.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Is there a point at which you've quantified that?  You've said:  Here's how much this constraint, this market issue is costing us?


MR. GREGG:  Perhaps we have done that analysis.  We do that on a general scale, yes, in the shorter term.


But we do it in more detail as it comes to a project-specific basis.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you actually get a number, that this is what this is --


MR. GREGG:  We do market intelligence, certainly, on the various components that we require for our projects.  So we are constantly keeping a tab on, for example, what the auto transformer market is currently, where prices are going.


And yes, we pay close attention to that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you have -- it could be a lot of dollars we're talking about; the market constraints could cost you a lot of dollars, right?


MR. GREGG:  Theoretically, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you have a strategy?  Like, any formal analysis or strategy of how to deal with that?


MR. GREGG:  On a procurement basis?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. GREGG:  Yes, we do.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It deals with market constraints --


MR. GREGG:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  -- and how you get around them?


MR. GREGG:  It does.  We have strategic sourcing strategy, looking at standardizing purchasing for major components for the build-out, to seek strategic relationships, that we have a standard definition of needs that we can get better pricing on, and have longer-term arrangements for actually procuring those materials, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And this is not something where you have to reinvent the wheel, right?  I mean, lots of companies, big companies are faced with the same problem. And there is solutions to it?


MR. GREGG:  There are solutions.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Is there a summary -- I don't want the whole thing -- but is there a summary of that procurement strategy somewhere that we can take a look at?  I mean, I know it is summarized a little bit in the evidence, but I am wondering whether you have a document, you know, like a four- or five-page document that you have given to your board or to your executive, your other executives that helps them understand it.


MR. GREGG:  I can't think of a short summary off the top of my head that comes readily to mind.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The strategy document itself is quite voluminous, I assume?


MR. GREGG:  Yes.  And there would be more specific strategic considerations, based on a project-by-project basis.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I am not going to ask for that.


Let me move to page 4 of this document, because there is an interesting comment here that I want to explore a little bit.


You are talking about the policy environment within which you operate, and you are a very policy-driven organization, right?


MR. GREGG:  Policy certainly has an influence on our organization, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  If I understand what you say here, you are saying the government sets the policy environment, such as the Green Energy Act, and then you have to -- within that policy environment -- you have to strive to achieve both low cost and maintenance of shareholder value.  That's your obligation, right?


MR. GREGG:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you are in a unique situation compared to other companies, I suggest, because your shareholder, to whom you have fiduciary responsibilities, is also the policy-maker that imposes those financial challenges on you; isn't that right?


MR. GREGG:  I think it is probably a fair characterization, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So when your shareholder imposes policy directions that are going to impose dramatically higher costs -- and they do that sometimes; the Green Energy Act is one, right?


MR. GREGG:  Yes, we have seen a growth in costs as a result of the Green Energy Act.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Is one of your considerations -- I mean, one way you can get that extra money is you can get rates increased; right?  That is a regulatory strategy?


MR. GREGG:  True.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Another way is you can drive down costs in other areas of your operations.  That is an operational strategy; right?


MR. GREGG:  Right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You probably do both of those; right?


MR. GREGG:  We do.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The third place you can get that money is from the shareholder themselves; right?  You can say, We're going to reduce your profit levels --


MR. GREGG:  True.


MR. SHEPHERD:  -- to deal with these increased stresses.


MR. GREGG:  True.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Have you considered that?  Have you looked at that possibility?


MR. GREGG:  I think it is probably something that would be more appropriate for panel 4 to talk to you specifically about.


I wouldn't have specifically had those conversations, but you may want to ask that question of panel 4.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, and I will ask that question of panel 4, but I guess in the context of preparing this vision, this vision doesn't assume that the shareholder will take a haircut at any time in order to pay for any of this stuff; right?


MR. GREGG:  I would say that is fair.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And that issue didn't come up when you were drafting this vision?


MR. GREGG:  No.  Not to my knowledge it didn't.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The memorandum of agreement requires you to maintain shareholder value; right?


MR. GREGG:  I would have to specifically look at the portion that says that, but I...


MR. SHEPHERD:  Just a second.  I will refer you to it.


E.2., which is on page 25 of this document, says Hydro One will:

"...operate on a financially sustainable basis and maintain or increase the value of its assets for its shareholder."


MR. GREGG:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I take it that means that -- or you would interpret that to mean that the value of the enterprise, the transmission business, for example, can't go down due to lower profits even for a short term, because that would be breaching that provision?


MR. GREGG:  I suspect you are right in that case, but that reflects the fact that we are a commercial corporation, happen to be owned by the province of Ontario, but we are expected to deliver value like any other commercial corporation would.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, I understand that, but it is correct, isn't it, that in the private sector companies often will allow their profits to go down for a short period of time to deal with market pressures, to add market share, for example?


MR. GREGG:  Yes, fair.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But that is not currently part of your strategy?


MR. GREGG:  It is not currently, no.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  


Still looking at page 4 -- sorry, jumping back and forth a little bit.  Still looking at page 4, it says at the top of the right-hand column:

"Our financial flexibility will be dependent upon future decisions made by the Ontario Energy Board to balance service and cost which could ultimately affect our ability to undertake much needed new investment."


Do you see that?


MR. GREGG:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Do I understand your position to be that if the government has -- or, your, I mean Hydro One's position, to be that if the government has a policy in place, like the Green Energy Act, and you propose policies or projects in pursuit of that policy that are prudent, this Board can't -- is not allowed to say "no" to those projects if they have high rate increases?  You can't say, Well, no, we -- you can't do that, because it means the rate increases would be too high?


MR. GREGG:  No, I don't think that is a fair statement at all.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You think the Board can do that balancing act and say, you know, We need the project.  We understand, but it is just going to cost too much money; can't afford it right now?


MR. GREGG:  So if the government asks us to do things to support their policies, we fully understand in a regulated environment that we must come to this Board to demonstrate need and to demonstrate prudent costs have been incurred.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So if you prove that, but it is still a lot of money, is it reasonable, in your view, for the Board to say, Here's the maximum amount of capital and operating spending we think is sensible right now, and live within it.  Figure out a way.  Can they do that?


MR. GREGG:  I suppose they could do that.


I think our job is to put together a compelling piece of evidence that demonstrates why the spending is needed, to ensure the reliability and safe operation of the electricity system in Ontario.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, that is really where I was going with this, and so thank you for that.


If the Board did something like that - and they have done that in the past with Enbridge, for example, and others - would it be your view that Hydro One would have to simply ramp back their spending to respond to the lower budget they have, or would it also -- would one of the options be to live with the lower profit level for a period of time?


MR. GREGG:  I am uncomfortable going into a theoretical that would result in a strategic business decision.  I don't think it is fair for me to speak to what the company may do in that circumstance.  That would be a consideration for senior management and the board to make a decision.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me approach it a different way.


Is one of the options that you, as a senior executive, would want to consider in that circumstance, would feel was appropriate to consider in that circumstance, the possibility of simply living with lower profits for a while?


MR. GREGG:  It would be one of the potential considerations.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.


I would like to move to page 9 of the strategic vision.  This is a discussion about how you satisfy your customers.  Do you have that?


MR. GREGG:  I do.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And this first set of bullets, am I right in interpreting that as saying the overall price of electricity is your customers' single most important concern?


MR. GREGG:  Yes, it tends to be.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Wouldn't some customer groups, businesses, Schools I know for sure, be more concerned with reliability than price?


MR. GREGG:  I think generally what you see is that the general residential customer tends to be more driven by price as the determinant of satisfaction.  When you break it down into other segments, such as industrial segments, often the driver would be reliability over price.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And for most customers, isn't it true that reliability has to reach a certain acceptable level before price starts to matter?  That is, if they're getting blackouts all the time, they will pay more?


MR. GREGG:  I suspect that is true, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  In the second set of bullets, you have the target -- these are your targets for how you are going to improve customer satisfaction; right?  Right?  Sorry.


MR. GREGG:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I am going too fast.  One of these targets is, "making our customers a focus in all planning discussions".


So on the transmission side, who do you see your customers to be?  Is it the LDCs and the directs, or is it the end use customers who ultimately get the electricity?


MR. GREGG:  It is all of those segments.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And you assume, I guess, that the interests of the LDCs and the end use customers are the same?


MR. GREGG:  No.  They have different expectations, depending on the segment.  There are some commonalities across the segments.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I want to leap to page 21, not because the rest of it isn't interesting, but just because I can only ask so many questions about it.


On page 21, you talk about the memorandum of agreement.  You have -- you discuss here the focus on -- or you discuss here the requirement to maintain top quartile performance.  Do you see that?


MR. GREGG:  I do.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That is a requirement right in the memorandum of agreement, isn't it?


MR. GREGG:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And that memorandum of agreement is a binding document, isn't it?


MR. GREGG:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It limits the freedom of your board of directors to make decisions?


MR. GREGG:  It is a binding document between our board and our shareholder, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And there are three items in which you have to be top quartile - correct me if I am wrong - operating results, financial results and major project execution.  Is that correct?


MR. GREGG:  I am just reviewing those portions of the memorandum of agreement to make sure.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It is in G.2 in the memorandum.


MR. GREGG:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  What the memorandum requires you to do - correct me if I am wrong - is to benchmark against other utilities both in Canada and internationally; right?


MR. GREGG:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And you have to include both publicly- and privately owned utilities; right?


MR. GREGG:  That is correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you must have a list of companies you consider to be comparables?


MR. GREGG:  Yes, we do.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Is that in the evidence somewhere?  I looked for it and maybe I just missed it.


MR. GREGG:  I don't believe it is, no.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So can you provide that list?


MR. ROGERS:  If it is readily available, I think we can do that.


MR. GREGG:  I believe it is readily available.  Actually, I believe it is available in some of our filings on SEDAR.


MR. ROGERS:  Yes.


MR. GREGG:  So we can provide that.


MS. LEA:  J3.1, please.

UNDERTAKING NO. J3.1:  to PROVIDE LIST OF UTILITIES AGAINST WHICH HYDRO ONE BENCHMARKS, AND EXPLAIN WHICH UTILITIES ARE USED FOR EACH OF THE THREE TESTS.

MR. SHEPHERD:  There is nothing confidential in that, right?


MR. GREGG:  No.  What I am thinking about -- and subject to check, but we will take a look.  There are some comparative -- some comparator companies available in some of our public filings on SEDAR.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And when you -- this list of comparator companies, is this one list you use for all three of your tests?  Or do you use different companies, depending on which tests you're --


MR. GREGG:  I don't know, sir.  I would have to check that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  If you could include in the undertaking some indication as to which ones apply to which of the three tests, that would be good.


MR. ROGERS:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And in doing that benchmarking, do you do the benchmarking yourself or do you have an outside firm do it?


MR. GREGG:  I am not responsible for the benchmarking part of it, so I am just trying to think what panel would be most appropriate.  Panel 2 would be better able to answer questions on that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Will do.


I am happy to say that it took me 35 minutes to be bumped to another panel.


Okay.  Still on page 21 of this document, you say here:

"A history of rate reductions, freezes and caps has put pressure on the level of investment in our core assets."


I am just going to stop there, because I know it refers to the distribution system, but it is both, right?  That is true in transmission as well?


MR. GREGG:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So can you expand on that, what you mean by that?


MR. GREGG:  Yes.  In a general sense, what we're referring to there is that there was a long period of sort of a lack of investment in infrastructure, for a period of approximately 20 years, both in the transmission and distribution side.


And as we know that this infrastructure ages over time and requires refurbishment and replacement, that is really what that statement is referring to.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So -- I don't mean this in a pejorative way, but it sounds like Hydro One underinvested for a period of time.  Not necessarily because you wanted to underinvest, but because there was only so much money and you had no choice, and now you are doing a little bit of catch-up to try to get the system back into good shape.  Is that a reasonable characterization?


MR. GREGG:  I think it is fairer to say there have been peaks and valleys in the history of investment in the infrastructure in Ontario.


It may not be the most efficient way of investing in the assets, but that has been the case.  And it has been driven in many cases by previous policy decisions, rate freezes that we referred to in the evidence.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You haven't had directions from the government to stop spending money on infrastructure, right?  You have had instead directions saying:  We are not going to let you increase your rates?


MR. GREGG:  We have not had direction to stop spending.  I don't think we have had direction saying we are to stop increasing rates, as you say.


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, no, but you had rate freezes and this is the --


MR. GREGG:  Oh, in the past?  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah.  But those were rate freezes.  Those were not spending freezes, right, generally speaking?


MR. GREGG:  I think it is fair to say generally.  I was not around in those days, so not privy to those specific conversations, so I don't know.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And at any point over the last little while, during this -- you have been going through, like, a renewal analysis, right?  How do we get back on track after this underspending, right?  This is what you have been doing the last couple of years?


MR. GREGG:  I am sure it is getting back on track, but what we do is we do an analysis of asset needs.


And we do –- and panel 2 can also help you with this in terms of sustaining investments, to make sure we continue to operate a reliable and safe system in Ontario.


MR. SHEPHERD:  During the course of that analysis, and I assume the analysis that came out with this strategic vision too, did you try to estimate the amount, the dollar impact of that underinvestment over a period of time?  How much of your current plan is to catch up on that stuff that, in the best of all possible worlds, you would have done already?


MR. GREGG:  I am not sure we really have spent a lot of time looking backwards at that.  Really, what is more important is having a proper assessment of the current asset needs, and based on that, to ensure that we meet reliability and safety requirements, investing prudently in those assets.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Now, attached to the strategic vision, just a couple of pages along, is the actual memorandum of agreement with the province?


MR. GREGG:  Yes.  Appendix 1.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, that's right.  It starts on page 24 of the document, pages 24, 25 and 26.


You have that, right?


MR. GREGG:  I do.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And am I right that this is a unanimous shareholders' declaration under the Ontario Business Corporations Act, Section 108?


MR. GREGG:  I believe that is correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And if you look at C3, this deals with directives.


And if I understand it, if you get a directive from the province, you have no choice; you must follow it?


MR. GREGG:  That may be overstating the matter.


Really, what the point of a directive is, is that we operate as a commercial entity, that we are owned by -- our shareholder happens to be the government of Ontario.


Really, it is a recognition that a directive may come from the government that would remove for a period of time or on a specific issue the fiduciary responsibility of the board of directors.  That is what that refers to.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So if they can't make the decision, then the only people who can make the decision are the province, right?


MR. GREGG:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you have to follow it?


MR. GREGG:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I mean, you could try to talk them out of it if you think it is a bad idea, but if they say go do this, you have to?


MR. GREGG:  Yes.  Well, theoretically the board could argue with that, I guess, but yes.  The point is to remove the fiduciary responsibility of the board, and direct us to do something, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  You have received quite a number of directives over the last couple of years, right?


MR. GREGG:  We have received a few, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Are all of them currently on the record in this proceeding, as far as you know?  All of the ones that are currently applicable to what you are doing?


MR. GREGG:  I am not sure if they're part of this evidence; probably aren't.  They would be publicly available, though.  Any directives that we have received are on our website.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Understood.


I wonder if you could undertake to advise if any of them are not evidence in this proceeding.


MR. GREGG:  I am looking...


MS. LEA:  J3.2.

UNDERTAKING NO. J3.2:  to ADVISE WHETHER ANY DIRECTIVES FROM THE ONTARIO GOVERNMENT ARE NOT IN EVIDENCE IN EB-2010-0002.

MR. ROGERS:  Yes, we will.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, D4 of this memorandum relates to your non-financial operational standards, right?  The corporate governance, social responsibility, that sort of thing?


MR. GREGG:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you do an annual corporate social responsibility CSR report?


MR. GREGG:  No. Any mention of the CSR issues are generally contained in our annual report, not in a separate report.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Do you have a department that does -- that is responsible for CSR?


MR. GREGG:  No.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Whose area does it come within?


MR. GREGG:  It falls under area of corporate affairs, generally.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  E1 of this document requires that you provide to the province annually a three- to five-year new projects plan, right?  This is the one we were talking about earlier.


MR. GREGG:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And you do that, right?  Every year you give them a new plan saying:  Here is -- three to five years out, here are our new projects?


MR. GREGG:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And the most recent one is in the evidence in this proceeding?


MR. GREGG:  I believe so.  Yes, it is.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Just as an aside, one of the things that is happening in transmission, if I understand it correctly, is that projects are becoming more contestable; true?


That is, you are not assured that a new transmission line is going to be built by Hydro One; it might be built by somebody else?  Somebody else can say:  We would like to build it instead?


MR. GREGG:  Certainly, we understand that the transmission business in Ontario is open to other licensed transmitters.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And there has been a movement now.  You have seen, for example, Brookfield talk about the fact that they would like to build some of these lines --


MR. GREGG:  Certainly.


MR. SHEPHERD:  -- instead of you.


Do you consider that issue, the issue of contestability, when you prepare your plan for the province?


MR. GREGG:  We do.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And -- because I looked at the most current one and I didn't see an analysis of that.  Is that reported to the province separately?  Or how do you deal with that?


MR. GREGG:  It is part of our overall strategic considerations when we are compiling both the strategic plan and the investment plan.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But your current new projects plan and all of your current -- your needs forecast and your -- the stuff we saw in the board packages, this all assumes that the major transmission projects are going to be built by Hydro One, right?


MR. GREGG:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  The section E.2 of this document, which we referred to just a minute ago, requires you to operate on a commercially sustainable basis and to maintain or increase value.


And I think you may have answered this before, but tell me whether this is correct.  You only really have two choices to meet both of those goals.  You can either increase your revenues or you can reduce your costs; right?


MR. GREGG:  Those are two options available to us, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  There are really no others and still maintain value, is there?


MR. GREGG:  It is -- certainly that is another option, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  What is the other option, sorry?


MR. GREGG:  What you're referring to, sir, about adjusting profits.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That wasn't --


MR. GREGG:  Any commercial operation, that would be another option.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That is exactly what I was saying is that in order to maintain the value of the assets, you can't let the profits go down; right?


MR. GREGG:  You could.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Could you?


MR. GREGG:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Not for a long period of time, but for a short period of time?


MR. GREGG:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Then E.3(ii) is a list of things you are not allowed to do without shareholder approval; right?


MR. GREGG:  We would need to seek approval of the Minister of Energy and Minister of Finance in advance of, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And one of those is tax planning?  You can't do any material tax planning without getting their permission?


MR. GREGG:  Where do you see that, sir?


MR. SHEPHERD:  "Any action which would potentially

have a material impact on the payments in lieu of taxes by the corporation and its subsidiaries under the EA."


MR. GREGG:  That I wouldn't say that is generally any tax issue.  That is specific to the payments of -- in lieu of taxes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's right.  So PILs, which is the only taxes you pay; right?


MR. GREGG:  Yes, yes.  So we would need advance approval from the shareholder, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, you talk in this evidence -- not in this particularly, but you talk in the evidence generally about exploring partnerships with third parties; right?


MR. GREGG:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And those involve usually private sector companies, right, or sometimes private sector companies?


MR. GREGG:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And do some of those discussions involve obtaining tax efficiencies from the fact that they have tax losses, for example, that they can bring to the table?


MR. GREGG:  To my knowledge, sir, I have not been involved in those discussions to that level of detail.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Would it be better to ask panel 4 about that?


MR. GREGG:  It may, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But in any case, you wouldn't be allowed to do something like that, have a partnership that involved significant tax savings, without the province saying it was okay, would you?


MR. GREGG:  We wouldn't seek a partnership with any entity without approval of the shareholder.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, good.


F.6 on the last page of this requires you to provide periodic reports - these are monthly and quarterly reports to the province - on operational and financial performance.


MR. GREGG:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You do this; right?


MR. GREGG:  Yes, we do.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Are these a formalized document; that is, you have sort of a standard template that, Here's our monthly report?


MR. GREGG:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And have we seen any of those in this proceeding?


MR. GREGG:  I am not aware that you have, no.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So I wonder if we can see the most recent one of each of the quarterly and the monthly reports?


MR. GREGG:  These would really -- counsel may want to jump in, but these would really mimic the quarterly results that we disclose as a reporting issuer.


So I am not really sure what else you would be looking for.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, if they're identical, then I would say, fine, I don't need to see them.  If they're only similar, then to the extent that they're different, they might provide us with useful information.


MR. GREGG:  The financials wouldn't be different.  They would be exactly what our quarterly results are.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's fine.  But of course this is not just financial information; right?  Operational performance, as well?


MR. GREGG:  I think, again, it would be everything that we would disclose on a quarterly basis as a requirement of being a reporting issuer.  There would be nothing different that is being disclosed.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I think I would like to see a sample of each of the quarterly and monthly ones, just to see whether there is useful information.


There may not be, Mr. Chairman, but...


MR. ROGERS:  I object, Your Honour.


[Laughter]


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you for the elevation.


MR. ROGERS:  Or Mr. Chair.  I am not sure if it is a promotion or not, but, in any event, I do object.  The information is readily available, the evidence in the case.


Secondly, these kinds of questions, with respect to my friend, should be asked as interrogatories.  I don't know what is in these documents, so we have to go back and look.  And if they're asked in interrogatories in advance through your interrogatory process, they can be dealt with in an orderly way, not in the middle of a hearing.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, I couldn't have asked for these in an interrogatory, because I didn't know they existed.


MR. ROGERS:  Well, they're right here.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I think there are two stages to this enquiry.  One is:  Do the reports that are filed with the Minister of Energy and senior officials of the Ministries of Engine and Finance, quarterly and monthly, these financial reports, do they differ from the publicly available material?


I think if the answer to that question is they do differ, then I think Mr. Shepherd's request - and I will leave it to you, Mr. Rogers, as to whether that should come in on a preemptively sort of confidential basis - is well taken.  But I think we need to get to the first -- past the first hurdle first.


I don't think Mr. Gregg, in all fairness, can actually answer that question as he sits here today.


So perhaps the undertaking could be formulated as, first of all, determining whether there is any difference between the publicly available and publicly reported materials and these reports referenced in F.6 of the Memorandum of Agreement, and, if so, a sample of each of the reports on a presumptively confidential basis, if they are readily available.  Presumably they would be readily available.


But if we could have that undertaking, Ms. Lea?


MS. LEA:  Yes.  J3.3, both to investigate and, if appropriate, produce.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

UNDERTAKING NO. J3.3:  TO DETERMINE WHETHER THERE IS ANY DIFFERENCE BETWEEN THE PUBLICLY AVAILABLE AND PUBLICLY REPORTED MATERIALS AND THOSE REPORTS REFERENCED IN F.6 OF THE MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT, AND, IF SO, PRODUCE A SAMPLE OF EACH OF THE REPORTS ON PRESUMPTIVELY CONFIDENTIAL BASIS.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The ...


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Let me just say the Board is mindful -- and I take your point on this particular question, Mr. Shepherd, but for the benefit of others as we go forward, there is a -- we do have a voluminous interrogatory process that we need to be able to rely upon.


And where those -- where questions could be made in the interrogatory process - and I think you have indicated that this is probably not one that might have been available in those circumstances - we would expect those questions to be asked in the interrogatory process and not create the wave of undertakings that we sometimes get in these proceedings, which cause, I am sure, considerable turbulence back at the office.  And it is just really not the most effective way of going about it.


But that is a digression.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  Well, on that note, I am going to ask for another one, and I hope my friend will agree that this one is both relevant and one that I couldn't have asked for before, and this is, in G.4, the company is required to provide to the ministry annual reports on performance compared to targets.  This is the benchmarking reports, I assume, or maybe it isn't.  I don't know.


But let me ask the first question.  Are these the benchmarking reports, the reports on your benchmarking of the three -- against comparables?


MR. GREGG:  I can't give you an accurate answer on that.  Again, it would be panel 4 who would be better able to say what is exactly in those reports.


I would like to say, too, this document, this memorandum of agreement, while it is attached to this strategy document, is also a publicly available document that's been on our website for quite some time.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Understood.


So if these are -- or if there is a benchmarking report that you provide to the province - that is, a report where you say, we were obligated to benchmark ourselves to the first quartile and we've done that, here's our results - I wonder if you could provide the most recent one?


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I think the witness's answer is to the effect that that may be a better question to put to the panel that is actually dealing with benchmarking.  They may be able to deal with that answer or with that question much more directly.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So that would be panel 2 or panel 4?  Panel 2, right, for benchmarking?


MR. GREGG:  Yes, panel 2.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.


MR. ROGERS:  I think we will see.  They will be alerted to this, and one of them will be able to answer the question.  Four is the financial panel, but I will see that one of them is able to answer the question.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So my last question on this vision, the strategic vision, is on H1.  H1 says that you must have regard to the recommendations of the Agency Review Panel when it comes to executive and senior management compensation, right?


MR. GREGG:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you confirm that with respect to the test period, Hydro One is 100 percent in compliance with the recommendations of the Agency Review Panel?


MR. GREGG:  I believe so.  That would specifically be answered by panel 3, but to my knowledge, yes, we are.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I want to turn, then, to another area of questions.  This has to do with the inclusion of CWIP in rate base.


This centres around Board Staff Interrogatory No. 122, which is tab 2 of the materials we have provided to you.


Who is dealing with this?  Is this you, Mr. Gregg?


MR. GREGG:  I am certainly dealing with it from a policy basis.  If you want to get into detailed accounting issues of it, I am not an accountant.  There will be some accountants available on panel 4.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Well, we will see how far we can go.


MR. GREGG:  Great.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So let's -- did I understand you to tell Mr. Crocker on Tuesday that Hydro One doesn't actually need the CWIP in rate base in order to get go ahead with the Bruce-to-Milton project?  You are going to go ahead with it anyway, even if the Board says no?


MR. GREGG:  We believe the need, as established in the previous section 92, still exists.  And in fact, we would say that the need is actually increased since we received that section 92 approval.


MR. SHEPHERD:  No.  I am not asking whether it is needed.  I am saying that if the Board says you can't have CWIP in rate base, you are still going to build it?


MR. GREGG:  We would propose that, as is in the Interrogatory 122, that without CWIP treatment on this project, we would seek to proceed on an AFUDC basis, and the cost would be $762.9 million.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, and in fact, your argument is that –- again, if I understood your discussion with Mr. Crocker the other day -- is that it is actually cheaper for the ratepayers if you put the CWIP in rate base?


MR. GREGG:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  That is what I want to explore.


My math instincts say:  No, no, no, that can't be right.


So you have two attachments to this interrogatory.


Attachment 1 is the spreadsheet that calculates the costs of the Bruce-to-Milton project on the basis of CWIP in rate base, right?


MR. GREGG:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And that is a three-page spreadsheet that has an NPV of the revenue requirement, so that is the ratepayers' cost, right?


MR. GREGG:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Then it has a DCF, which is basically your cost?


MR. GREGG:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And what it appears to show is that the NPV to the ratepayers is about $9 million higher if you use the conventional approach, As opposed to the CWIP in rate base approach?


MR. GREGG:  That is correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So I just want to explore that for a bit.


On line 18, if you take a look at line 18, I am looking at attachment 1 to begin with, but line 18 is a line that says:  "Incremental revenue requirement impact."


Do you see that?


MR. GREGG:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And so for CWIP in rate base, that is two million -– sorry, two billion.  I wish it was two million.  Two billion, 667.9 million dollars, right?


MR. GREGG:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Then if you look at the other attachment, the same line, same place, you see that the incremental revenue requirement impact is $2,856,000?


MR. GREGG:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But those are undiscounted, right?


MR. GREGG:  It is on an undiscounted basis, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you would agree with me it is not fair to compare them on an undiscounted basis, because that doesn't reflect the time value of money?


MR. GREGG:  I think it is valuable information.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  How so?


MR. GREGG:  Just as it is, showing that on an undiscounted basis, it is more beneficial using the CWIP approach.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So go back to attachment 1, if you could, please.


MR. GREGG:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You see that that number of two billion, 667.9, it's made up of four parts, right?


One is the return on rate base over that 52 years, and that is one billion, 548.4 million, right?


MR. GREGG:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And to calculate that return on rate base, you have used a rate of 7.5 percent as the cost of capital each year, right?  Will you accept that, subject to check?


I don't have a live version of this, but I checked the math and this is what it comes up with.


MR. GREGG:  I think our... can you repeat the question, sir?


MR. SHEPHERD:  To calculate the return on rate base each year, you appear to have used a rate of 7.5 percent as the total cost of capital?


MR. GREGG:  I would have to check that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.


MR. ROGERS:  I'm just going to -- Mr. Chairman, if I might, I have no trouble with this line of questioning.  Mr. Struthers will be here in panel 4, who is much better able to answer detailed questions about this, but as long as Mr. Gregg is comfortable with it, I am okay.


MR. GREGG:  I will tell you when I am getting uncomfortable, and you are probably getting pretty close.


[Laughter.]


MR. SHEPHERD:  I guess I -- we were told that the issue of CWIP in rate base is this panel.


MR. GREGG:  I think on a general policy basis.  And the areas that I covered with Mr. Crocker on Tuesday I am comfortable with, but as we go into a line-by-line accounting treatment, that's where I become probably less able to answer your questions.


It should be Mr. Struthers.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Tell me when to stop, okay?


MR. GREGG:  Sure, I will.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I will keep going.  Will you accept, subject to check, that the figure is 7.5 percent?


MR. GREGG:  Again, I would have to check, so...


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  The second component of this 2.7 billion is income tax, right?  That's the -- because your cost of capital includes ROE, there is income tax, right?


MR. GREGG:  I see that, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  That is a grossed-up number, presumably, because you have to -- to make it rates, you have to gross it up?


MR. GREGG:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And then the third part is depreciation, 695.5 million.  Do you see that?


MR. GREGG:  Yes, I do.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And that is -- that's the amount included in rate base in -- I am just trying to see...


On line 34, you will see total rate base additions, you have in 2012, 672.2 million?


MR. GREGG:  Yes, and then --


MR. SHEPHERD:  And 23.3 million in 2013?


MR. GREGG:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So they total the depreciation.  So you have taken all of the depreciation through to this period?


MR. GREGG:  I believe that is correct, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Finally, there is the financing costs included -- the financing cost of including the CWIP in rate base.  That is 69.5 million, right?


MR. GREGG:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And under this option, you collect that in 2011 and 2012?


MR. GREGG:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, can you just now turn to attachment 2 for a second?  And I am looking at the components of that 2.8 billion, 2.9 billion.


We see that the return on rate base is higher, because the initial rate base is higher, right?


MR. GREGG:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And the income tax is higher, because the ROE is -- would be higher if you have a higher rate base, right?


MR. GREGG:  Makes sense.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And the depreciation is higher, because you started out at a higher number; you had more to depreciate, right?


MR. GREGG:  I believe that is correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But you are missing the 69.5 million in accelerated CWIP, because in this option, you don't do that, right?


MR. GREGG:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And if I understand that correctly, that combination of things totals $188.1 million more?


MR. GREGG:  That is correct, on a lifetime basis.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me just ask you one small thing, and you may not know the answer to this, but it just bugged me every time I looked at it.


The difference in the depreciation between the one option and the other option is $67.4 million.  But the CWIP, which is the difference in the cost of the project, is $69.5 million.  Do you know why that is?


MR. GREGG:  Say again, sorry?


MR. SHEPHERD:  The reason why the depreciation is higher in the second option is because you didn't include the CWIP in rate base; right?  Sorry, you didn't include it at the outset, so you had to include it as AFUDC; right?


MR. GREGG:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But it is not the same number as the CWIP number.  Is that because the AFUDC is at a different rate?


MR. GREGG:  I believe that is the case, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh.


MR. GREGG:  But, again, you asked me to tell you when to stop when I became uncomfortable, and perhaps you have reached that point.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  All right.  No more numbers of that type, anyway.  I still have a few questions about this, however.


You have done a net present value calculation.  You have got a $9 million difference; right?


MR. GREGG:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And that $9 million difference, of course, is far less than the $188 million for the undiscounted amount, and that is because, in the CWIP option, the ratepayers are paying money earlier; right?


MR. GREGG:  They are, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So the reason you go from $188 down to nine is because of the time, value of money?


MR. GREGG:  Yes.  Across the life, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So what the discounting exercise does is it reflects the timing of payments; right?


MR. GREGG:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It effectively adds an interest rate to that money?


MR. GREGG:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So when my friend, Mr. Faye, asked you on Tuesday whether you took the cost of the ratepayers of paying earlier into account, you actually do; right?  That is what the discounting does?


MR. GREGG:  That's right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But the discount rate you are using there is 6.62 percent; right?


MR. GREGG:  Yes, the weighted average cost of capital.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So that rate is lower than the cost of capital for Hydro One of 7.5 percent; true?


MR. GREGG:  I believe that is the case, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So if you use the same rate for both - that is, if you assume that the ratepayers' cost of capital is the same as your cost of capital - isn't it true that, in fact, the CWIP in rate base option would cost more than the conventional option?  Isn't that in fact the case?


MR. GREGG:  I think, again, that is probably a better question to pose to panel 4.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, okay.  But you gave evidence that it is cheaper for the ratepayers.


MR. GREGG:  On this basis, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But the only reason it is cheaper is because you assumed that their cost of capital is lower than yours; right?


MR. GREGG:  You would have to ask that question of panel 4.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  It wasn't clear to me, Mr. Shepherd, just to be fair to the witness and for the preparation of the subsequent panel.  It wasn't clear that the witness actually adopted the 7.5 percent number --


MR. GREGG:  Yes.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  -- as the cost of capital that Hydro One had used to develop the chart.  So that may be something that the subsequent panel might be able to confirm, and then your question has a different import.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Understood, Mr. Chairman.  I guess I -- what I am trying to get to with this witness -- and I understand I will have to ask Mr. Struthers or somebody else on panel 4 for the more detailed components, and I will get to some assistance to that in a second, but I am asking the more general question about the comparative cost of capital of customers and Hydro One.


And what I want the witness to tell us, if he knows, is:  Is it a fair assumption that for most of your customers, their cost of capital is higher than yours?


MR. GREGG:  I think it would probably vary, but, again, I am not the best person to answer that question.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  I wonder if you could provide us with a live Excel version of these two attachments so that we can see the interest rates used and we can see what the impact is of changing those interest rates.


I tried to reconstruct it, and it would have taken hours and hours.


MR. ROGERS:  Mr. Chairman, I don't really know what that is.  Can I take that under advisement and be instructed?


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I think that is fair.


If that were to happen, it places a considerable burden on you, Mr. Shepherd, to ensure that the factors that you change are highly transparent, so that when we get the document, we would know precisely what - no pejorative meaning - manipulation you had made of the table so that we could be sure that we could track that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  To the extent that Excel is ever transparent, I will do my best.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  But this is dependent on the availability of the Excel, and so on, and I will expect you to get back to me on that, Mr. Rogers.


MR. ROGERS:  Yes.


MS. LEA:  Mr. Rogers, would it be assistance to give that a number now in terms of an investigative...


MR. ROGERS:  That's fine.


MS. LEA:  All right.  J3.4.

UNDERTAKING NO. J3.4:  TO PROVIDE An OPEN SPREADSHEET SHOWING I-1-122, Attachments 1 and 2

MR. SHEPHERD:  I just have one other question on this, and that is -- I should advise the Panel I am well ahead of my planned timing, and so I will not be three hours anymore.


The one other question I have on this is with respect to the cumulative payments by ratepayers for this project.


It is correct, isn't that, that under the CWIP in rate base approach, the amount you collect from ratepayers is higher in the early years and it is lower in the later years; right?


MR. GREGG:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Is it correct that under the CWIP in rate base approach, the ratepayers continue to be out of pocket on a cumulative basis - that is, they will continue to have paid more cumulatively - until 2024; right?  I wonder if you could undertake to confirm that?


MR. GREGG:  I think we will, yes.


MR. ROGERS:  Yes.


MS. LEA:  J3.5.

UNDERTAKING NO. J3.5: TO PROVIDE AN ANSWER AS TO WHETHER RATEPAYERS CONTINUE TO BE OUT OF POCKET ON A CUMULATIVE BASIS UNDER THE CWIP IN RATE BASE APPROACH.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now I want to turn to the Schedule A projects, if I can find my notes on it.  I just have a couple of questions on those projects.


And my friend, Mr. Crocker, asked you these questions, I think, almost exactly this way, and I couldn't figure out whether it was -- what the answer was.  Maybe I was just not paying enough attention.


The Schedule A projects are the ones that the minister has put on hold for now; right?


MR. GREGG:  Yes.  They were attached to a September 21st, 2009 letter from the previous minister, and then subsequent to another letter that the current minister sent to the OPA, those -- any work on those projects is currently on hold.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And I assume this is something you have discussions with the government about what's the status of these, when do you want us to start moving on them again, that sort of thing; right?


MR. GREGG:  General discussions with ministry staff, yes.


If you look back at the September 21st letter, it actually had an obligation that we update, on a semiannual basis, where we are on those projects.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But you don't have anything you could assist the Board right now in terms of when you are likely to -- they're no longer likely to be suspended?


MR. GREGG:  No.  I have no information to add to that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Is it fair to say that, for the purposes of this application, the parties and the Board should assume that no work is going to be done on the Schedule A projects in the test period?


MR. GREGG:  I wouldn't say that we could safely assume that.  It depends on what the advice is back from the OPA to the minister, and it depends on the timing of that advice.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  As of right now, they're not in your budget anywhere and you don't have any people working on them?


MR. GREGG:  They are currently on hold; that is correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So none of the dollars in this budget are being used for that in the -- under your assumptions for this application?


MR. GREGG:  At the current time, that's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.


MR. GREGG:  But, again, as I said to Mr. Crocker, any development spending that we would do on those projects would go into an already-approved deferral account and don't impact rates in this application.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand that.  But I guess the difficulty I had with that is you do have some OM&A spending that happens and is in rates, because you have the GEA projects going on; right?


MR. GREGG:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And is it fair to assume that your level of OM&A spending in this area is going to be the same whether or not you do the Schedule A projects in the test period?


MR. GREGG:  It would be generally the same.  And the reason for that is that generally, as I referred to Mr. Crocker previously, is that when we have our internal staff working on those projects, they're filling out time sheets and allocating any OM&A costs incurred to those projects specifically.


But to the extent that we have OM&A costs outside of that, and permanent staff, those staff are still working on projects or general work that is outside of the Green Energy Plan.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So if they're not working on that project, they're working on another one, but they're working on one of them --


MR. GREGG:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  -- regardless?  Yes, okay.


MR. GREGG:  But many of -- much of that work that we were doing, the development work we were doing, we were using contract staff outside of regular Hydro One employees.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I have a note here that you have a project, Nipigon-to-Pickle Lake; right?


MR. GREGG:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And I -- my understanding was that you were asking for approval from this Board to include the CWIP in rate base for that project.


But I took it, from your discussion on Tuesday, that is no longer the case?


MR. GREGG:  It is currently on hold.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Exactly.  So are you asking for the Board to approve, when you start again, that the CWIP is in rate base?  Or not?


MR. GREGG:  I believe --


MR. ROGERS:  I can maybe help.  I am instructed that the plan is that if that is rekindled, it will be part of the section 92 application.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So this Board isn't being asked on any of the Schedule A projects --


MR. GREGG:  I think those -- as I think we stated clearly -- I can't remember which tab to send you to -- but any of those Schedule A projects would obviously require section 92 approval, and our strategy was to seek CWIP for each of those projects at that time.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.


Mr. Chairman, it is early for the break, but I am planning to move into the confidential information, and the entire rest of my cross is on that.


So would you like to take the break early, or would you like me to start?


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That is convenient.  Why don't we stop now?  And we will resume at 11:00 o'clock, in camera, I take it.  Thank you.


--- Recess taken at 10:45 a.m.

--- On resuming at 11:05 a.m.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  Please be seated.


We are not in camera, but we are about to go into camera.  Is there anyone in the room who has not signed the undertaking, the Board's confidential undertaking document, and who the applicant objects to having in the room?


MR. ROGERS:  There are some staff people here assisting me with the case, but I don't object to them being here, obviously.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  There is a sign on the door.  I wonder if, just for safety's sake, we will just close that back door.


We will now go into an in camera session.


--- In camera session commencing at 11:06 a.m.


[Page 54, line 16 to page 70, line 4 has been 


redacted]


[Page 54, line 16 to page 70, line 3 have been


redacted]


--- On resuming public session at 11:30 a.m.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Who is next?  Mr. Thompson, you seem to be readying yourself.

Cross-Examination by Mr. Thompson:


MR. THOMPSON:  Fussing about here, yes.  Thanks.


Panel, my name is Peter Thompson.  I represent the Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters.  I hope you can hear me.


MR. GREGG:  I can.


MR. THOMPSON:  If you can't, please tell me to speak up.  I will just give you a heads-up here as to where I am going with this examination.


It really has two parts.  The first part deals with clarification of the context, and I will just give you the five topics that I want to canvass in part 1.


I want to get some clarification of the facts pertaining to presentations to the board of directors.  Number 2 is some clarification of facts relating to your company's relationship with its affiliates, and there I am referring to the OPA, the IESO and the others that are -- and the ministry, as well.  Well, it is with the affiliates and your owner, is my topic number 2.


I want to get some clarification of facts pertaining to Hydro One's relationship with its regulator.  I want to get some clarification of facts pertaining to the planning process that led to the filing of this particular case, and, lastly, under my context, is clarification of Hydro One's current understanding of the, if you will, green end state now contemplated by your owner.


With that factual background, the topics that I wanted to address in the second part of my cross-examination are the significance of customer impacts in your company's planning process, and, more particularly, the planning process that led to this case.


I want to explore the information that Hydro One considered with respect to customer impacts pertaining to this particular case.  I question -- my third topic is the adequacy of Hydro One's response to the impacts the customers are experiencing and facing.  And, finally, under my second area, I want to explore Hydro One's capacity for further belt tightening.


So that is the game plan, and I hope that helps you understand where I am coming from.


Let me deal first of all, then, with presentations to the board of directors, and these have been filed as confidential, Exhibits KX1.2, KX1.3, which were the -- just stopping there, 1.2 was I believe the June 2009 presentation, and 1.3 was the November 2009 presentation.


Am I correct that those presentations were before this Board in the recent Hydro One Distribution case?  Maybe your counsel can answer that if neither of you know.


MR. ROGERS:  I believe they were.


MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.  Then the latter two, KX1.4 and KX2.6, which is the colour segment of KX1.4, they are with respect to the February update, and those are -- have not been before this Board until this case; is that fair?


MR. GREGG:  Correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Now, Mr. Gregg, Mr. Rogers at the outset of this case indicated that executives were involved in the presentation of materials to the board of directors, and my question of you is -- and you may have already answered this to Mr. Shepherd, but were you one of those presenting the documents in February and/or May of 2010?


MR. GREGG:  I would have presented certainly in May.  You will see a memo from me regarding this rate application to our board of directors in May.


In February, I would have to check to see if I was.  I don't believe I presented anything at that meeting.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  The other executive on the panel, sir, did you present, as well, at either of these meetings?


MR. McQUEEN:  No, sir, I did not.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So my questions I think will be primarily to you, then, Mr. Gregg.


Was Mr. Struthers one of those presenting at both meetings, to your knowledge?


MR. GREGG:  Yes.  I see his signature on documents for both meetings.


MR. THOMPSON:  And he is here on panel 4, I believe?


MR. GREGG:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  Have I got that straight?   Thanks.


Okay.  Let's move, then, from -- that is topic 1 in context.


Topic 2, "relationship between Hydro One, its owner and its affiliates," Hydro One is wholly-owned by the province of Ontario; am I correct there?


MR. GREGG:  That is correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  And others wholly-owned by the province of Ontario include, I believe, OPG, the OPA and the IESO?


MR. GREGG:  I believe that to be correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  And just to nail that down, there is a statement to that effect -- you don't need to turn it up -- in the 2009 annual report.  That's Exhibit A, tab 9, schedule 1, at page 63.


Would you take that, subject to check?


MR. GREGG:  That is our annual report.


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.


MR. GREGG:  That we are wholly-owned by the province?


MR. THOMPSON:  It says under "related party transactions":

"The province, OEFC, IESO, Ontario Power Authority and Ontario Power Generation are related parties of Hydro One."


MR. GREGG:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  I understand that Hydro One's relationship with its owner, province of Ontario, is subject to a Memorandum of Agreement.  I believe we find that in the material that Mr. Shepherd filed this morning, Exhibit K3.1, under tab 1.


If you go to the last three pages under tab 1, I see there a Memorandum of Agreement between Hydro One and Her Majesty the Queen.  It is dated March 27th, 2008.


Could you just confirm that that is the Memorandum of Agreement that governs Hydro One?


MR. GREGG:  It is.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  If you go to page 25 -- well, it is the second-last page of Mr. Shepherd's exhibit at tab 1, we see under "responsibilities, financial" that Hydro One will annually prepare a three- to five-year investment plan, and then that is sent to the Minister of Energy and to the Minister of Finance for concurrence.


Is the business plan that the board of directors approves, such as the one that was approved in February of 2010, something that Hydro One is obliged to submit to the ministers for their concurrence?


MR. GREGG:  I don't believe the Memorandum of Agreement specifically states that.  I see it says that investment plans require concurrence.


MR. THOMPSON:  As a matter of practice, does Hydro One submit the business plans to the ministry for concurrence?


The reason I ask that is that there is a letter in the material -- I think it is in one of Mr. Shepherd's exhibits that has all of the correspondence -- that has a letter that went to the minister on February 25th of 2010 --


MR. GREGG:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  -- sending the plan that had been updated in February '10 -- sorry, I think that was a letter from the minister to you folks, telling you he had received that plan and he was expressing concurrence with it.


MR. GREGG:  Yes, I believe that is the case.  As in any normal shareholder relationship, we do obviously inform them of our business plans and seek shareholder concurrence with that.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And so just jumping forward a bit, what, if anything, was sent to the minister following the meeting in May?  Can you help us with that?


MR. GREGG:  I believe our revised -- it may have been a summary of our revised application to this Board would have been sent to the minister.


MR. THOMPSON:  You mean all of the binders?


MR. GREGG:  No, a summary.


MR. THOMPSON:  A summary.  And is that document in the record somewhere?  If not, could it be produced?


MR. GREGG:  I don't know.  Again, subject to check, I believe that was the case, but I don't have anything with me.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, would you undertake to check, and if a summary was sent to the minister, provide it to us before panel 4 gets here?


MR. ROGERS:  Can I do this, sir?  Can I undertake to see what is available without undertaking to produce it, and I will advise -- if I think it is inappropriate -- I will advise the Board and we can argue about it.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I think that is fair.


MS. LEA:  So J3.7, just to remind us the enquiry will be made.  Thank you.

UNDERTAKING NO. J3.7:  to CHECK WHETHER SUMMARY OF REVISED OEB APPLICATION WAS SENT TO MINISTER OF ENVIRONMENT AND ADVISE THE BOARD WHETHER ITS SUBMISSION IS APPROPRIATE.

MR. THOMPSON:  And to your knowledge, Mr. Gregg, is there something from the minister expressing concurrence -- the ministers or the Minister of Energy -- expressing concurrence with the May plan?  Or is that still outstanding?


MR. GREGG:  Not to my knowledge, but to be fair, I would have to check on that.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Well, perhaps you could check, and just have Mr. Struthers briefed to answer that question, if possible?


MR. ROGERS:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.


MR. ROGERS:  Whether he will answer it or not, I don't know, but he will be briefed.


MR. THOMPSON:  Either the minister did send something in writing expressing concurrence, as he did in February, or he didn't.


Now, going on in the Memorandum of Agreement, down in F, it talks about responsibilities, and it talks about the board of directors' meeting with the minister of Energy as needed.  It talks about the chair, the president and chief executive officer of the minister of Energy meeting on a regular basis.  It talks about the chair, chief executive officer and the minister of Finance meeting at the Minister's request.  And then it talks about senior management and senior officials of the Ministry of Energy and Ministry of Finance meeting and communicating on a regular and as-needed basis.


Over on the next page, paragraphs 5 and so on, it talks about the minister of Energy -- sorry, Hydro One providing the minister of Energy and senior officials with the multi-year and annual business planning information on a timely basis.


And providing the minister of Energy, in the next paragraph, the ministers of Energy and Finance, quarterly and monthly financial reports and briefings on operational and financial performance against plan.


And then:

"In all other respects, Hydro One will communicate with government Ministries and agencies in a manner typical for an Ontario corporation of its size and scope."


Have I paraphrased what that says fairly?


MR. GREGG:  You have.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So could you just help me with the frequency of meetings that Hydro One has with the ministry?


MR. GREGG:  It varies in terms of the categories you just outlined, sir.


In terms of a working relationship, I would say staff below the chief executive level would meet relatively frequently with ministry officials, and they would be categorized into two general areas.


One would be in relation to shareholder relations.  There would be some meetings in relation to that, and those would be typically less frequent than the other kinds of meetings, which would be similar to any meetings that any other kind of energy player in Ontario would have, that would be dealing with policy issues, implementation of various aspects of the government's policy in the energy field.


MR. THOMPSON:  So on a typical monthly basis, how frequently would staff below the executives meet with the ministry?  I am just looking for a general sort of picture here.


MR. GREGG:  That's very hard to quantify.  I could speak for myself.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.


MR. GREGG:  Would that be valuable?


MR. THOMPSON:  That would be valuable.


MR. GREGG:  On a monthly basis?  I would say meetings, perhaps two or three.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And staff under you more frequently?


MR. GREGG:  There would be a few staff who would have it a little more frequently than that, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Now, do any other panel members wish to add to that, in terms of meeting frequency?


MR. McQUEEN:  Personally, I rarely meet with the ministry officials.  Just this particular year, because of negotiating labour contracts in the building trades and the potentialities of work stoppages and the need to deal with the net zero increase provisions of the government policy, I had a number of conference calls with ministry officials to discuss status of bargaining.  So that would be the extent of my involvement.


People below me working in my line of business meet very frequently with -- at the working level with Ministry of Environment, Ministry of Natural Resources and the Ministry of Energy on project approval and project progress matters.


MR. THOMPSON:  Anything to add, Mr. Bing?


MR. YOUNG:  My staff may meet with Ministry of Energy officials perhaps two to three times a month, and it depends on the various groups.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right, thanks.


Now, I have seen the memorandum of agreement between the province and OPG.  It has similar types of provisions, but the meetings in the OPG case are sort of quantified, if you take this subject to check, no less than 12 a year and that kind of thing.


But my question is this:  Do the meetings that Hydro One has with the -- do some of the meetings Hydro One has with the ministry also involve OPG, OPA and/or the IESO?


In other words, are they group meetings with your affiliates, or is it generally a one-off deal?


MR. GREGG:  It is a combination of both types of meetings, and it is depending on the issue, really.  If there were to be a meeting with our staff and Ministry of Energy staff, for example, on the general issue of connecting green energy -- green generation to the grid, you would expect to see a number of representatives from the OPA, the IESO and from Hydro One meeting on those issues.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And so is it fair for me to conclude that Hydro One, when it comes to the initiatives of the Green Energy Act, of attaching more renewables, conservation, those targets -- is it fair for me to conclude that meetings you have with the ministry are likely to involve the OPA?


MR. GREGG:  They certainly can involve the OPA, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Is the IESO there, as well, in these kinds of meetings?


MR. GREGG:  It would depend on the issue; not always, but it would depend on the issue.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So is it fair for me to conclude that together with -- well, is OPG ever there?


MR. GREGG:  Again, depending on the issue, they could be, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So is it fair for me to conclude that you and your affiliate entities have a pretty good idea what the other is planning insofar as it affects activities that influence the plans of all of you?


MR. GREGG:  To varying degrees, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  So you -- your Hydro One planners would know what the OPA is up to, in terms of planning to acquire more and more renewables, the prices it is paying for renewable generation, and that kind of thing?


MR. GREGG:  It would generally be a high degree of knowledge.  I think you would say so, Bing?


MR. THOMPSON:  And you would know what those activities -- you would have a general idea of what those activities -- what problems they may be creating in terms of operations for the IESO?


MR. YOUNG:  We would be aware of the transmission aspects of the planning with the OPA.  Details on the resource planning part of it, we would have very little interaction.


MR. THOMPSON:  Would you be aware of what OPG is up to in terms of its plans and the impact they will have on electricity prices?


MR. GREGG:  On a project-specific basis, we would have fairly good knowledge of their plans.  Say, if they were proposing to develop some hydro generation inasmuch as it needed to connect to the transmission grid, we would have a high degree of knowledge.  But beyond that, it would be a diminishing amount of knowledge.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.


And am I correct that the ministry is sort of active in all of these plans?


MR. GREGG:  I would say that is a fair characterization.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Now, the ministry, I understand, is active in these conservation initiatives.  I think in some of the documents you have provided you actually indicated the conservation dollars that you expect to get through, as I understand it, the ministry's activity in this area; is that fair?


MR. GREGG:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Now, Mr. Warren touched on with you the directives that you receive from your owner and the other documents that the ministry has sent to the OPA.


Is it fair to suggest that the owner here, the province of Ontario, is very much a hands-on utility owner?


MR. GREGG:  The first thing I would say is I don't recall speaking to Mr. Warren about directives.  There were letters that I think we discussed, but I think -- I just want to clarify that directives under the memorandum of agreement are very different types of documents than the letters that are included in our evidence.


MR. THOMPSON:  I meant the letters.  I misspoke.


MR. GREGG:  I just wanted to clarify that.  Your question was:  Are they a hands-on utility owner?


MR. THOMPSON:  They're in your face, is the way I read all of the -- what I draw from the facts here.


MR. GREGG:  There are interactions on two basic levels with the Ministry of Energy, and that is the one level, as shareholder/owner of our corporation, there are interactions.  But there are also interactions that are more general interactions to any other player in the energy sector in Ontario, from a policy perspective.  We do interact on a very regular basis in that arena, as would pretty much anybody else not owned by the government of Ontario.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Let me ask you this question, Mr. Gregg, and your counsel may have something to say about it.


But my question is:  Does Hydro One accept that, in proceedings before this Board, your utility owner is to be treated in the same way as any other utility owner is treated?


MR. ROGERS:  Well, if I could answer that question, I think, if I understand the intent of the question, generally, yes.  There are certain exceptions to that, as set out in the legislation when the government gives direction, and so on.


But, generally speaking, I think the answer is yes.


MR. GREGG:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.  Okay, let me move on, then, to the third contextual topic, Hydro One's relationship with its regulator, the Ontario Energy Board.


Now, I understand the Board regulates Hydro One Distribution and Transmission.  It regulates the prescribed assets for OPG, and it has jurisdiction over, I believe it is, the fees that the OPA and IESO charges.


Are you aware of that, Mr. Gregg?


MR. GREGG:  I am.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Does Hydro One work closely with the Board in coordinating the activities that it has to present here for Board approval?


MR. GREGG:  I think the answer to that is "yes", but maybe you could give me a more specific --


MR. THOMPSON:  Again, I am interested in the frequency of Hydro One's dealings with the Board in terms of if it is ongoing regulation by this Board.


Can you help me with that, or is somebody else --


MR. GREGG:  We do have frequent interaction with Board Staff on a multitude of issues.


MR. ROGERS:  I wanted to distinguish between Board and Board Staff.  I think the witness is talking about Board Staff.


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  Yes.  And that is what I was asking about, too, so I should have made that clear, Board Staff.


Could you just describe for me generally the frequency -- the frequency and the kinds of things that, to your knowledge, are dealt with in this fashion?


MR. GREGG:  It is fairly frequent.  It is hard for me to put a number on it.  If you want a number, I could probably come back with a number.


But the general nature of the interaction, as I am sure Panel members would know, is on rate applications.  We also have a number of compliance issues.  We have a number of transmission code/distribution code issues.


There are multitude of policy matters that the Board has brought forward that it's sought industry comment on.


I think that is sort of the general characterization of the kinds of interactions we have.


MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you very much.


Let me move to the fourth topic.  This is clarification of the sequence of planning events that led to the application now before the Board.


You discussed this with Mr. Warren to some extent, and so I don't want to re-plough that ground, but I do want to just infill some areas there.  I think there is further relevant information.


So just by way of recapitulation, the process is described in -- in your prefiled evidence in the planning exhibit.  It is exhibit -- you don't have to turn this up, but I will just provide it for the record.  Excuse me.


Yes.  It is Exhibit A, tab 12, schedule 1, and this is the -- the planning process is described in five pages.


Would you take that, subject to check, Mr. Gregg?


MR. GREGG:  Yes, I've got it here.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  It was in the CME motion record at tab --


MR. GREGG:  It was.


MR. THOMPSON:  -- tab 6.


And the steps in the process lead to Hydro One board of director approval of a business plan, and for the purposes of this case, that was done in June of 2009.  And that is Exhibit KX1.2; correct?


MR. GREGG:  Yes.  There was that step taken in June, 2009.


MR. THOMPSON:  And that plan is a five-year plan prepared over a five-year planning horizon, 2010 to '14?


MR. GREGG:  That is correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  Then that approval, if I understand the process correctly, then leads to the development of a 2010 budget and a 2011 and 2012 outlook, which is brought forward to the Board in November of 2009?


MR. GREGG:  That is correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  And that document approved in this case was Exhibit KX1.3; fair?


MR. GREGG:  Correct, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Now, these documents indicate that the company plans, internally plans distribution and transmission at the same time; is that correct?


MR. GREGG:  On a consolidated basis, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  But in proceedings before this Board, there's a staggered effect.


Could you just explain why the company staggers these applications, when internally they're done together?  Do you know what I mean by "staggered"?


MR. GREGG:  Yes.  We bring forward separate transmission and distribution applications.


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, but the transmission case, the one just approved, last approved was 2009 and '10?


MR. GREGG:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  And the distribution case comes in 2010-'11.  Then transmission comes in 2011 and '12.  That is what I am referring to when I talk about the staggered effect.


MR. GREGG:  Yes.  We run -- well, you will see consolidated statements in many of these documents and in the overall high-level business plan.  They're two quite distinct areas of our business, and are brought forward on separate rate applications to reflect the separate nature of the business.


So there is a timing issue there, where they don't necessarily line up.  But it is really just that; they're two separate areas of our business, and we currently have a timing issue between the two.  It may not always be the case, but that is the case now.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  I was just puzzled why, for example, you don't come in with a TX plan for the same two years that you come in for a DX -- with a DX plan.  There is always this lag or –- yes, the test periods are different?


MR. GREGG:  They are.  Perhaps -- probably wouldn't give you as adequate an answer to that as panel 4 likely would, who manages the business planning process.


MR. THOMPSON:  Then I will pursue it there.


Okay.  Back to the sequence, then, we have the 2010 budget, the 2011-'12 outlook.


And that, in turn, then led to the updated business plan that we referred to earlier in February 2010, KX1.4, and then the coloured excerpt is KX2.6; correct?


MR. GREGG:  Correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  And then this plan, you have indicated, I think, to Mr. Warren, reflected some revised assumptions, and one of them was you assumed that the Board would grant your motion to have a higher rate-of-return for transmission for 2010.  That is an assumption that was reflected in the updated business plan in February?


MR. GREGG:  It was an assumption based on an appeal that was active at that point.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Now, that assumption changed.  Can you just help me with the date when the Board rejected that motion?


MR. GREGG:  Not off the top of my head.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  We will get that later.


But in any event, it was after April of –- sorry, after February of 2010?


MR. GREGG:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  I just want to come back to this letter that I mentioned earlier, from the Minister to you with respect to the February plan.  I believe it is in Schools No. 1.  I will find that.  I knew I would make the wrong reference.


It is the document that has all the -- somebody asked you for all the letters.  I thought that was Schools...


MR. ROGERS:  I believe it is I-7-8.


MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.  Thanks very much.


Mr. Gregg, the letter that I was referring to earlier in the examination is the February 25, 2010 letter, which is part-way through the correspondence that is attached to the response to Exhibit I, tab 7, schedule 8; am I correct?


MR. GREGG:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Do you have that in front of you?


MR. GREGG:  I do.


MR. THOMPSON:  And this letter is commenting on -- if you see the first paragraph -- Hydro One Inc.'s 2010 budget and 2011-'12 outlook and performance targets.


Would I be correct in assuming that that is the February 11th output of Hydro One?  Or is it something else?


MR. GREGG:  Yeah, I believe it is the February 11th output.


MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.  And the Minister expresses pleasure that you are maintaining the focus on certain items, in the second paragraph.


And then on the last page, it talks about -- it says:

"We are satisfied with Hydro One's focus and alignment of its operating and financial plans to support its core business and the government's priorities.  This letter constitutes our concurrence with the business planning documents provided by Hydro One as required by the Memorandum of Agreement dated March 27, 2008."


So it would appear the Minister thinks that is required; fair?


MR. GREGG:  That is fair.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Now, we are waiting to see what was... sorry.


Now, just going back to a question I asked earlier, you don't know whether the Minister has or has not concurred with the output from the May meeting, or did you say he has not concurred?


MR. GREGG:  I believe we were checking on that.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  But at the moment, you don't know one way or the other?


MR. GREGG:  No.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Let's just assume for this next question that the Minister hasn't expressed any form of formal concurrence like you had in February of 2010.


If that is the state of facts that exists, can the Minister distance itself -- distance himself from the output in May?  In other words, is it still open to the minister to say, Well, I never concurred in that, and, after reading Mr. Warren's cross-examination and Mr. Shepherd's and his brilliant cross-examination, I don't concur any longer or I don't concur?


Is that a possibility?


MR. GREGG:  Well, I would never suppose to speak for the Minister of Energy, but I think it is clear what this document shows, sir, and there were some alterations between that period and what we provided to this Board in seeking our -- the application that is before us today.


And there were some -- some alterations, but they were in the alterations characterized as reductions to what would be in here.  So I would be surprised that the minister would not support or concur with the direction we took in bringing this application forward.


And, indeed, while there may not be -- I am not aware of any official concurrence that may exist.  There were certainly discussions at the staff level that had knowledge of what we were bringing to this Board.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So then moving on, then, from the minister's concurrence on February 25th, 2010, my understanding is that Hydro One then presented the plans that came out of that February meeting to stakeholders, and I believe the presentation was on March the 2nd, 2010.  There are some documents in your filing about that, and there are others filed in response to CCC Interrogatory No. 1.


Would you take that subject to check?


MR. GREGG:  I know it was in March 2010 that we did that stakeholdering session.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I am suggesting it was March the 2nd, but subject to check?


MR. GREGG:  Subject to check, but I am sure you are correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  And the plan, as I understood it, was the ministry was to file what it presented to stakeholders on March the 31st, 2010.  Is that your understanding?


MR. GREGG:  The company was going to file?


MR. THOMPSON:  The company was going to file, correct, with the Board.


MR. GREGG:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Then just before you were about to file, something happened; is that correct?


MR. GREGG:  We received a letter from the minister.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, is there a letter in March?  I don't think so.  There is a letter in May.


MR. GREGG:  May, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Something happened before the end of March.  Can you tell me what happened?


MR. GREGG:  We had originally planned to file by March 31st, but there were ongoing discussions with the ministry and we were asked to hold off at that time.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, who asked whom to hold off?  Just give me the chain of communications, if you can.


MR. GREGG:  I don't recall the specific individuals in the ministry who did, but certainly a request was made to one of my staff members to ensure that we did not file until there was opportunity for the minister to consider a number of other issues beyond Hydro One.


MR. THOMPSON:  Can you help me with your recollection as to what gave rise to this communication?


MR. GREGG:  I think recollection -- and, again, I can't speak to the motivation of the minister or minister's staff specifically, but I know at the time we all have seen media reports of concern around energy price increases, and we had a new Minister of Energy at that time.  He had been shortly on the job; a lot of new staff who were pouring over a lot of the information that was made available to them.


And at that time, I think as they got their briefings, they wanted a bit of a time out to make sure they fully understood all of the situation before them.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, do you recall the matter of consumer impacts of electricity price increases being raised in the legislature around this time?


MR. GREGG:  I recall that.


MR. THOMPSON:  And what is your recollection of that event?


MR. GREGG:  I recall it being raised on the floor of the legislature, a number of questions to the Minister of Energy.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Do you recall whether a press release issued by Hydro One was contributing -- sorry, a press release issued by OPG was contributing to those questions?


MR. GREGG:  I don't recall that specifically.  That may be the case, but I don't recall that specifically.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.


Do you recall Hydro One's proposed increase that had been presented to stakeholders being one of the matters that was raised in the legislature?


MR. GREGG:  I can't remember -- I can't recall the specific question referring to "our" rate application, no.


MR. THOMPSON:  Can you recall questions being raised concerning the pending change from GST to HST?


MR. GREGG:  I recall that.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And do you recall anything being raised about the increases that consumers were about to receive, or maybe some of them had experienced them, as of the changes in April of 2010?


MR. GREGG:  I recall that.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Perhaps you could turn up -- it is tab 7 in the CME motion book.  It is K1.1.  This is the Globe and Mail article.  It was written on May 6th.


If you look at the third paragraph, it says:

"Three days before Hydro One was set to go to the province's energy regulator in mid-March, government officials told the company not to file its application..."


Is that an accurate statement?


MR. GREGG:  I would not say it is entirely accurate.  We were not told not to file an application.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, what were you told?


MR. GREGG:  We were told to -- them being aware of our plans to file on March 31st, we were told to hold off filing the application until they could have a review of a number of issues around price increases in the province.


MR. THOMPSON:  Now, was all of this communication verbal?  Somebody asked for the production of documents, including e-mails - I think it was CCC - between this date in March and May, and nothing has been produced.  So I concluded this is all verbal, but am I correct?


MR. GREGG:  I only recall verbal, until the letter from the minister came to us.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Were you aware that OPG was given a similar communication?


MR. GREGG:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, that must have taken the wind out of your sales, having just had a nice approval from the minister in February.  Did it?


MR. GREGG:  We tend to pride ourselves at Hydro One being able to adjust to the changing winds.


[Laughter]


MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  Part of the transition to renewables, wind power.


Okay.  So it surprised you, but you absorbed it; is that correct?


MR. GREGG:  Well, we did come forward with the rate application not too long thereafter.


MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  Back to the article again, just to nail this down, the article said -- the headline says, "Ontario utilities told not to bother with requests for rate increases."  And then the first paragraph talks about:

"The Ontario government has taken the highly unusual step of ordering the province's Crown-owned electricity utilities to cancel their requests for hydro rate increases."


I understand you to be telling me that is not the message that you got.


MR. GREGG:  That is correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  Did you happen to speak to this reporter?


MR. GREGG:  I did not, no.


MR. THOMPSON:  Do you know who in Hydro One did?


MR. GREGG:  I think it was Danielle Gauvin, who was our spokesperson.  She is quoted in there, I believe.  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  A little further down in the article, it talks about the magnitude of the increase Hydro One was seeking, the fourth paragraph:

"22 percent over two years left many of its largest customers in shock."


Is that an accurate statement?


MR. GREGG:  I didn't personally attend the stakeholder session.


MR. THOMPSON:  It then goes on to -- well, can anybody else in the panel enlarge on that answer?


MR. ROGERS:  Mr. Shepherd, I don't think the concern is with the 22 percent increase, I think it is the large customers being in shock that they probably don't know.  I think the 22 percent -- it is in the material -- I think it was in that order of magnitude that was presented at the stakeholdering.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, did the 22 percent leave many of your largest customers in shock?  Were they complaining about it to Hydro One?


MR. GREGG:  I think it is safe to say some of them were not necessarily pleased with that.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So left many of its largest customers not pleased?


MR. GREGG:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.


MR. GREGG:  I think the article tended to overstate a number of things.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  It then goes on to say:

"OPG's intention to ask for 9.6-percent increase effective next January..."


And they put some numbers on this.


"...paled in comparison."


That is a reference to your increase.


Then it goes on to say:

"But unlike Hydro One, OPG publicly announced its plans last March 29, and it was the negative reaction that prompted government officials to step in, the sources said."


Is that accurate, to your knowledge?


MR. GREGG:  I honestly don't know.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Can anybody else on the panel help us?


MR. GREGG:  No, I don't think they have any knowledge of it.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So is it fair for me to suggest that the facts that emerged at that time were sufficient to prompt your owner to conclude that it should investigate whether consumers were in need of some protection with respect to electricity prices?


MR. GREGG:  Again, I don't want to put myself in the situation of speaking on behalf of our shareholder.


What I am aware of is that there were a number of media reports or questions in the Legislature around energy pricing and a number of different areas, including our transmission application.


And what I was aware of is that the staff in the Ministry of Energy wanted some time to better understand the overall impact of that before anyone proceeded.


And that resulted in us not filing on the 31st, and then ultimately filing at a later date.


MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  But the ministry had already received your October plan, and that disclosed impacts.  If it was the material that -–


MR. GREGG:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  -- is marked as Exhibit KX1.4?


MR. GREGG:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So what do you make of that, that they hadn't looked at customer impacts close enough?


MR. ROGERS:  Excuse me, Mr. Chairman.  May I object to this line of questioning?  These witnesses can't speak for the ministry staff or the minister of Energy.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I think that is a fair objection, Mr. Thompson.  I think it is a little unfair.


MR. THOMPSON:  It's his first win.  I guess I better move on.


[Laughter.]


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  You have to leave some -- there is room for compassion.


[Laughter.]


MR. ROGERS:  It is the gloating that bothers me more.


[Laughter.]


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Okay.


Now, was Hydro One aware of anything else that was going on at this time -- I am talking about early March leading to late March -- on this issue of customer impacts?


In particular, there is -- there was a report released by Professor Trebilcock -- I think around the beginning of March -- questioning the sustainability of all of what is going on, and then there was a study done by Mr. Sharp of Aegent released towards the end of March, indicating the commodity price increases that were likely to be experienced by customers.


And that report is -- it is found in CME's prefiled evidence.  I don't have the exhibit number, but it is at tab A, entitled:  "Beware the electricity cost iceberg."


Was Hydro One generally aware of those developments at this time, along with the --


MR. GREGG:  Yes, I think that is fair to say.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  All right.  So March 29th or thereabouts, you were told:  Withhold filing.


And would it be fair for me to conclude that there then began some considerable interaction between Hydro One and the ministry?


MR. GREGG:  There was some interaction, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  And was the purpose of this interaction to attempt to explain further what your initial application that had been approved in February was all about?


MR. GREGG:  Yes.  I think it is a fair characterization.


Remember, you will recall too that there had been changes both to ministers and to ministers' staff over that period.  We went through a period where when the previous minister, George Smitherman, left, there was an interim period where Minister Gerry Phillips was there, and then it switched to Minister Brad Duguid.


So there were three ministers over a relatively short period of time, and all of the consequential changing of staff.


So there was an effort made to brief the staff at that time, again, on what we had briefed previous staff on, perhaps in the fall of the previous year.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Now, was -- OPG was in the same boat.  Were you working together in these presentations to the minister?


MR. GREGG:  No.  No, we did not.


MR. THOMPSON:  Was the OPA part of your resuscitation effort with the minister?


MR. GREGG:  No.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So could you just give us an idea of the extent of the interaction between Hydro One and the ministry between the end of March and the date in May when the plan was finally -- revised plan was presented to the directors?


MR. GREGG:  From memory, there were several meetings that I am aware of between our staff and ministry staff.


Further, it characterized those meetings as being them acquiring a better understanding of what was in our proposed application, and why our proposed investments were needed to ensure reliable and safe operation of the electricity grid.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  But what was their position?  Cut it, cut it, cut it?


MR. GREGG:  No.  Their position was they wanted to better understand it.  I think there was probably that as a bit of an undercurrent, that cost increases were of a concern to them generally, but I want to be clear it was always made abundantly clear to me the minister never wanted to be put in a situation where he would be seen as asking for cuts that could jeopardize either the reliable or safe operation of the system.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Now, I take it from your -- at least I took it from the evidence you provided in response to interrogatories and your discussion with Mr. Warren that everything that happened between the end of March until the May date when the revised plan was submitted to the directors is not in writing.


Did I understand that correctly?


MR. GREGG:  Are you asking about meetings with ministry staff in that intervening period?


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  There is no communications from the ministry to you that -- in writing, that have been produced and they were asked for.  There is no communications by you to the ministry in writing that were asked for in this period.


All that we have is this minute that comes out of -- that is attached to CME No. 1, and I thought you told Mr. Warren there is no writing.


MR. GREGG:  Yes, that is correct.  The first time there was writing was the letter from the minister to us asking us to re-examine and look for possible reductions.


MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  But as Mr. Warren points out, that was -- that is on May 4th, I believe it is.


MR. GREGG:  Correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  And all of this started back in late March.


MR. GREGG:  Well, you will recall that business planning information had previously been supplied to ministry staff, so they had in their possession all of that information.  Really, the -- to characterize those meetings, it was a review of what we had previously provided to them and going through all of the requirements for investment, on both sustaining and on green.


So there was no additional writing that happened over that period.  It was meetings to discuss what was previously provided.


The real important point there is that there were new people involved on the minister's staff who required additional briefings, because they had not had the opportunity to have those briefings previously because of changes of staff.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, in all of this exchange, did ministry people ask, What happens if you postpone some of these projects that you have in your 2011-2012 revised plan?  What happens to the amounts you are asking for?  Did somebody ask that question?


MR. GREGG:  If we postpone certain things generally, you mean?


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.


MR. GREGG:  Well, there were general questions like that, certainly.


MR. THOMPSON:  That is what you ended up doing?


MR. GREGG:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And you didn't just pull that out of the air in May.  You must have had to have --


MR. GREGG:  There were discussions that led up to that, certainly.


MR. THOMPSON:  And were there a number of scenarios presented?  Could you get, for example, to a point where rather than 20 million of O&M, you had 50 million of O&M savings?


MR. GREGG:  No, not really.  It never got to that level of detail.  It was always very clearly understood from the interaction that the minister didn't want to be, or his staff, put themselves in the situation of second guessing management's decision on level of risk.


So we were asked to review, make sure that we were confident that we would require a certain level of investment to ensure that we weren't materially increasing risk to the plan.

Procedural Matters:


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  I don't know what time you are planning to break, Mr. Chairman, but --


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  12:30.


MR. THOMPSON:  This might be appropriate to break now.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  We will break -- Mr. Rogers?


MR. ROGERS:  I was just going to ask whether -- I wonder, Mr. Chairman, if Ms. Lea or someone could let me know how we look in terms of timing as to whether I need another panel this afternoon.


MS. LEA:  Are there any other counsel, besides Mr. Stephenson, who are planning to cross-examine this afternoon that have not yet cross-examined panel 1?  Mr. Stephenson and myself, then, I think remain.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Aiken, as well.


MS. LEA:  Mr. Aiken.  I'm sorry.


MR. AIKEN:  I might be five minutes in total.


MS. LEA:  You are behind the pillar, as far as I am concerned.


MR. AIKEN:  Hello.


MS. LEA:  All right.  And Mr. Stephenson?


MR. STEPHENSON:  I still propose on cross-examining.  I think I am -- with any luck, I will be less than a half an hour at this stage.


MS. LEA:  I am looking at 45 minutes at present.  I will look at that over the lunch hour.  Mr. Thompson?


MR. THOMPSON:  I think I might have up to an hour left.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  It looks unlikely that --


MR. ROGERS:  Unlikely, but I think I will arrange to have them on standby just in case the sun shines through.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Very good.


Just with respect to an earlier request for an undertaking that the Board deferred on that related to the ten-year needs document that was asked for by Mr. Shepherd, the Board has determined that we will ask the company to provide that document.  It can be -- it is presumptively on a confidential basis.  And so that undertaking would be a confidential undertaking, Ms. Lea.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  We have not yet already assigned a number, I believe, to it.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  No, we have not.


MS. LEA:  Okay.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  It relates to the ten-year needs -- I am looking for the specific nomenclature.


MR. ROGERS:  It is found in Mr. -- at K3.1, Hydro One's strategic plan, and it is called "The Ten-Year Needs Outlook".


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Very good.


MS. LEA:  Then the exhibit number will be KX3.8.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you very much.  We will --


MS. LEA:  Sorry.  It is an undertaking, isn't it?  Sorry.  JX3.8.  Thank you.

UNDERTAKING NO. JX3.8:  TO PROVIDE DOCUMENT ENTITLED "THE TEN-YEAR NEEDS OUTLOOK".


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you very much.  We will adjourn until 1:30.  Thank you.


--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:31 p.m.

--- On resuming at 1:36 p.m.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  Please be seated.


Mr. Thompson?


MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Continued Cross-Examination by Mr. Thompson:


MR. THOMPSON:  Panel, I am just about through the chronology here, but I just wanted to ask a few more questions about what was happening in this period from the end of March until early in May, when, then, there was a letter sent to you by the minister, I think it is May 5th.


You discussed about -- you discussed, before the break, the interactions you were having with the ministry.


My question is:  As a result of not filing the application on March the 31st, as intended, were there interactions between the company and Board Staff indicating what was going on, if you can tell me?


MR. GREGG:  I am not certain about that, sir.  I would have to check.


MR. THOMPSON:  Is there another panel that could cover that for me?  Or do I need an undertaking on that?


MR. GREGG:  I don't think there is another panel that could handle that.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Could you undertake to check and advise what interactions there were with Board Staff at that time?  This is between the end of March, when were you told hold off filing, and up until May when the application was revised.


MR. ROGERS:  If I can take it under advisement, Mr. Chairman.  I am certain that there were some communication to Board Staff by Hydro One staff.


The extent of it, I don't know, but I am certain there was some.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, then taking that, Mr. Gregg, was the Board Staff in any way involved in these discussions that you were having with the ministry in terms of explaining your application?  Were they present at these meetings?


MR. GREGG:  No.


MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.  Now, I just wanted to draw your attention, if I might, to some pages in the confidential information.  I don't intend to refer to any numbers, so I think I can do this on the record, but Mr. Rogers will interrupt me if I am straying too far.


So what you will need to turn up, gentlemen, is in Exhibit K1.2.  This may well be in the redacted stuff, I'm not sure, but you need to go to page 16 and 17.


And In K1.3, I would like you to turn up page 18.


And then in KX2.6, I would like you to turn up page 8.


MR. GREGG:  Could you repeat the last reference item?


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  It is the coloured --


MR. GREGG:  Oh, the colour one?  Okay.


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, page 8.  It is the same in the KX1.4, the slide entitled:  "Rate impact from TX and DX."


MR. GREGG:  Okay.  I have everything.


MR. THOMPSON:  You've got everything?  Okay.


So the point I wanted to discuss with you is you will see back in, I guess it is -- sorry, in the first one, the June document, KX1.2, page 16 and over on page 17, in the "customer rate impact" section, distribution and transmission were presented separately to your directors; correct?


MR. GREGG:  Correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And then the same format of presentation appears in the November presentation, at page 18.  We see distribution presented separately, and transmission presented separately; fair?


MR. GREGG:  Okay.  Sorry, I was in the wrong page.  It's page 18 of the presentation?


MR. THOMPSON:  Page 18 of the –-


MR. GREGG:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  -- KX1.3, slide 18.


MR. GREGG:  Slide 18, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.


MR. GREGG:  Yes, I see that.


MR. THOMPSON:  So it is essentially the same format, albeit on one page, that was used in the June presentation; is that fair?


MR. GREGG:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  But when we come to February of 2010 and we go to page 8, we now have a format of presentation that has these impacts combined.  Do you see that?


MR. GREGG:  I do.


MR. THOMPSON:  And the format actually lists, as I understand it, the line items of an electricity consumer's bill.  In other words, my understanding is DRC is -- is that the debt retirement charge --


MR. GREGG:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  -- line item?  Then "regulatory" is another heading of items in a bill?


MR. GREGG:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Is that correct?


MR. GREGG:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  And then we got the transmission charge, the distribution charge and the commodity; fair?


MR. GREGG:  Fair.


MR. THOMPSON:  And what you are now presenting in February to your directors is the combined effect of TX and DX, but holding these other line items constant; is that fair?


MR. GREGG:  I believe that is a fair representation of what is on that page.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And can you tell me when this format or presentation was adopted?


MR. GREGG:  I can only tell you that it appeared in the February 11th, 2010 presentation.


MR. THOMPSON:  Do you know if Hydro One developed that format presentation, or whether the ministry developed it, or whether somebody else developed it?


MR. GREGG:  I don't know for sure, but I believe it is a Hydro One document.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Is someone on panel 4 better equipped to answer that?


MR. GREGG:  Yes.  It is Mr. Struthers; his name is on this.  He would surely be able to tell you.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And would you agree with me that this format now accommodates the presentation to your board of directors of not only impacts from TX and DX combined, but presentation of the impacts on the other line items of all of the activities that are reflected in Hydro One's plans, if someone chose to try and estimate those?


MR. GREGG:  Well, I am not sure it really is an attempt at estimating, because the commodity is held flat over the five years or six years.


So I am not sure if that is just simply -- I am not sure why that was done, so I wouldn't go so far as to say that we were trying to estimate the commodity.


MR. THOMPSON:  No, no.  I am suggesting you weren't trying to estimate commodity.


MR. GREGG:  Oh, okay.


MR. THOMPSON:  But if someone wanted to do that, this format would accommodate the commodity changes that would be expected as a result of all of the activities that are reflected in your plans.


It could be reflected --


MR. GREGG:  It could be, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  And the same thing with regulatory changes that were anticipated, that are reflected in the OPA's plans that you talk about, could be factored into the green box on this chart, if someone wanted to include them in the analysis?


MR. GREGG:  I suppose that is correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And it would appear to me that -- and maybe you are not the one to answer this -- but it appeared to me, at least in this chart, Hydro One did not include those items in its analysis presented to its board of directors, changes to the regulatory segment of the bill that would be anticipated over this five-year period, and changes to the commodity component of this bill that would be anticipated over the five-year period?


MR. GREGG:  Yes.  I can't speak to that, so I would suggest panel 4 could give you better information on it.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  All right.  Thanks very much.


Okay.  Then that brings me back to -- I am just trying to finish up the sequence, and it is the letters.  Mr. Warren chatted to you about this, as well.  So the September -- first of all, we have the May 5 letter.


Let me just give you these references.  I am sure these letters are all well known to the Panel.  But the first one is the September 21, 2009 letter to Hydro One from Minister Smitherman, as he then was, and that is marked as Exhibit A11, tab 4, appendix A.


Would you take that subject to check?


MR. GREGG:  I am just opening it now.  Yes, I've got that.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And that is -- my paraphrase of that is this is rush-to-renewables letter.  Would you accept that as a --


MR. GREGG:  Your words, sir.


MR. THOMPSON:  -- rhetoric but accurate description of the letter?  My words, okay.  In any event, you have talked about this with others many times.


And then the next letter, you don't need to turn it up.  We talked about it earlier.  But the next one is the February 25, 2010 letter that was in I, tab 7, schedule 8.  That is the letter where the minister concurred with the plans developed in February.


MR. GREGG:  Correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And then attached to the Board Interrogatory 98, Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 98, we have 

-- attachment 2 is the letter from Mr. Duguid to Ms. Formusa, to the president and CEO of Hydro One that we have talked about already; correct?


MR. GREGG:  Correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  And then shortly thereafter, we have the letter from Minister Duguid to the OPA.  So the letter-writing started in May.  May 5th there is a letter to you.  Are you aware that on the same date a similar letter went to OPG?


MR. GREGG:  No.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And then on May 7th, we have the letter from Minister Duguid to the OPA, which has been paraphrased throughout the hearing here as the down tools letter.


And that sort of countermands the rush-to-renewables letter a few months earlier; correct?


MR. GREGG:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Now, I just want to get clear Hydro One's response to the down tools letter, because that, I think, shows up in the May revisions to your spending plans; is that fair?


MR. GREGG:  That's fair.


MR. THOMPSON:  Is it simply a change of pace to adding capital -- or adding to rate base in the 2011 and '12 period, but speeding it up in 2013 and 2014?


In other words, has anything changed in the five-year plan, other than a slow-down in '11 and '12, offset by a speed-up in the years following?


MR. GREGG:  There would be a number of projects over the broader planning period that will have shifted in their in-service dates.  You are still seeing that with the green energy, the Schedule A projects that we refer to.


While the timing of those -- some of those projects still is unknown, we do expect a number of those projects to come forward.  But at this point, it would be difficult to say when they will be coming into service.


MR. THOMPSON:  No, I appreciate that.  And I know it is not easy for you folks to predict when they will be in service, given the changing nature of the landscape.


But what I was really interested in, you developed a plan for the period 2010 to 2014 that went to the minister in the form of Exhibit KX1.4, as I understand the evidence?


MR. GREGG:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So that has a certain ambit of activities planned for that five-year time frame?


MR. GREGG:  Correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Then you come forward with a revision in May, which the evidence indicates pushes some stuff into -- pushes it out of 2011 and 2012?


MR. GREGG:  There are some deferrals of activities that go into later years, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  But is there any change being made to the scope of spending in the five-year period?


In other words, is it a slowing of the whole package, or is it just slowing for two years and assuming we're going to catch up in the next two?


MR. YOUNG:  I would characterize it as a slowing of the first two years, and then waiting for additional information to see how we would plan the subsequent years with respect to the green energy projects.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So at this stage, it is merely a two-year slow-down, and what happens next is we will wait and see, is the way I am interpreting that answer?


MR. YOUNG:  We are waiting for new information.


MR. THOMPSON:  And so how should we interpret the down tools letter?  Is it -- well, how is Hydro One interpreting it?  It is a moratorium, a temporary moratorium, or is it something else?


MR. GREGG:  I would interpret it as -- just as the letter states, that the minister is looking for revised advice from the OPA.  It was -- he had asked for it by June 11th.  It obviously hadn't arrived by June 11th, and still has not arrived.  But I don't -- "moratorium" may be the appropriate term to use, but I think it is revising the advice that was given that led to the September 21st, 2009 letter.


We do still expect there to be a number of projects required to connect the vast amounts of renewable generation that have materialized out of the feed-in tariff program.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And I accept that's what your expectation is.


Now, I think yesterday there was an announcement that -- we are now going back out to consultation to the community at large.  Does that have any impact on whether we are into a moratorium, a temporary moratorium, or something else?


MR. GREGG:  I think that remains to be seen.  I saw that the minister has announced what he is referring to as a long-term energy plan - I think that was announced in his speech on Monday night down in Niagara Falls - where it looks at things beyond the green energy accommodation.  It looks at things like nuclear power and the various things that would have been, I guess, included in the original IPSP.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, I take that to be the IPSP is on its way, but it is now going to be later.


MR. GREGG:  It could be.


MR. THOMPSON:  And it was the IPSP, as I understood it from your evidence in your examination with Mr. Crocker, that is sort of at the root of a lot of the planning that is currently on your books?


MR. GREGG:  The original sort of machinations that led to the IPSP, yes, is sort of at the roots of many of this 

-- much of this.  But what happened in the intervening period is they had the feed-in tariff program where it shows actual -- actual renewable generation, and also the Korean consortium where they have committed a contract for -- is it 2,500 megawatts?  2,500 megawatts.


MR. YOUNG:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Okay, let's now move to the May plan, and that is -- it is in response to CME No. 1, Exhibit I, tab 3, schedule 1, and it is at tab 2, I believe, of our CME motion record.


I take it you are familiar with this, Mr. Gregg?  You signed this.


MR. GREGG:  I am.


MR. THOMPSON:  So you were there when this was presented, and you would know what questions the Board asked as a result of this presentation?


MR. GREGG:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And so -- and you touched on this with Mr. Buonaguro, to some degree.  But just to nail down the changes that were made, the first, as I understand it, was some O&M -- well, you tell me what were the changes made.  Was it simply a postponement of some projects?  Or were there some other changes?


MR. GREGG:  We get into the details of that, those changes, in Board Staff Interrogatory No. 38, in the attachment to that interrogatory.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Okay.  Thanks.  Let me just preface my questions with you with this high-level understanding based from the May document.


My understanding is that O&M costs went down 19 million in -- from your original filing to the update or the revised in 2011, and another 20 in 2012?


MR. GREGG:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  And then there are some rate base implications.  There are about 400 million reduction in -- 404 million reduction in 2011, and something in the order of 502, I think it is, in 2012?


MR. GREGG:  Correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  There are some of the capital expenditure reductions that Mr. Buonaguro was questioning you about the other day.  I think it is 111 million in '11 reductions, and 256 million in 2012?


MR. GREGG:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  And the filing in May talks about postponing or deferring a number of projects.


I guess my question is:  How much of all of those changes, the capital expenditure, the rate base and the O&M, is linked to project deferral?  All of it?  Some of it?


MR. YOUNG:  In the undertaking, Exhibit J2.2, we provided a breakdown of the capital areas which were adjusted between the March stakeholdering and the plan that is filed.


MR. THOMPSON:  Right.


MR. YOUNG:  As you see, the two biggest changes are there in the inter-area network transfer capability, and -- as well as the TS upgrades to facilitate distributed generation.


MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  Can I just interrupt and ask:  Is that because of deferrals?  In other words, are we reducing costs, or are we just pushing them off to a different time frame?


MR. YOUNG:  There are some deferrals, and there are also some adjustments in the cash flows.


If you turn to -- if you refer to Exhibit I, tab 5, schedule 3?


MR. THOMPSON:  I, tab 5, schedule 3.  That's the Power Workers'...


MR. YOUNG:  Yes, I believe so.  And page 5 of 6 of that interrogatory response?


MR. THOMPSON:  I am scrambling to find it here.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  It may be on your screen, Mr. Thompson.


MR. THOMPSON:  Oh, okay.  I am low-tech.  I only think with paper.  Sorry.  All right.


So I, tab 5, schedule 3.  Okay.  I am with you.


MR. YOUNG:  Okay.  These are all of the projects which were either deferred, cancelled, or the cash flows were adjusted to make up the changes that you see in the undertaking, J2.2.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  I see that.  But my question is:  Did you cut any costs?  Or is this all just timing differences?


There is one cancellation, I see.  There is one scaled down.  But are all of the rest here simply timing differences?


MR. YOUNG:  Well, it resulted in a reduction in the development capital of 110 million in 2011, and 261 million in 2012.


MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  But is it going to pop up like a rabbit in another year?


MR. YOUNG:  Some of these, yes, could show up in other years.


MR. THOMPSON:  Most of them will show up in years beyond 2012, right?


MR. YOUNG:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  So this wasn't a belt-tightening.  It was just moving some projects out from under the 2011-2012 shells, right?


MR. GREGG:  If I could refer you back to Board Staff IR No. 38, there is a list of cost reductions as well as deferrals in that attachment.  It is primarily on page 3.  You will see some of the items will be referred to as "deferrals" like "site infrastructure deferral of selective site and facility maintenance," a million dollars.


But lines below that, you will see actual costs and shared service, some of those resulting from synergies achieved in reorganization of the IT department.  We negotiated savings in our outsourcing contract with the energy deal.


We've got -- we have retired a number of software applications that are no longer needed as a result of implementing an SAP conversion.


We have also rolled through a reduction in compensation for management, as was mandated by our shareholder.


So there are cost reductions in there as well.


MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  That 6.5 million, it looks like, on this chart, am I correct?


MR. GREGG:  Correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  Or this exhibit.  Now, is that total and some of that is allocated to distribution?  Or is that simply the transmission part of it?


And if you don't know, you can take --


MR. GREGG:  I believe it is transmission.


MR. THOMPSON:  Do you want to check that?


MR. GREGG:  I am actually positive it is transmission.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So on the distribution side for 2011, there will be, baked into rates, higher numbers.


In other words, to do this, I think you have to negotiate reductions in costs that are being incurred by both distribution and transmission; am I right?


MR. GREGG:  The definition of shared service, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And so we know that there are amounts baked into rates in 2010 -- 2011 distribution, based on numbers that were unreduced in relation to these amounts.


Are you going to realize gains in the distribution side because rates for distribution in 2011 have already been set?


MR. GREGG:  I am just recalling -- Mr. McQueen is helping me remember that -- you will recall that we did get a rates decision from this Board in March of this year.  There were a number of reductions that we received in that decision that were rolled through, that we reflected in our transmission application.


So there will be some reductions that we have put in here that are reflective of the directional cuts we saw in that decision.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Well, the reductions in that decision, as I recall it, on O&M were some 50 million in each of the years 2010 and 2011.


MR. GREGG:  Correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And I took those to be, like, real reductions, not just pushing things out of one shell into another.


But did that number come up in your discussions with the ministry and in your final development plans in determining how far you should go in reducing O&M?


MR. GREGG:  Which number are you...


MR. THOMPSON:  The 50 million per year on distribution.


MR. GREGG:  It certainly came up internally.  There were lots of discussions around that same time period internally.


I can't recall if it specifically came up in discussions with ministry staff.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, did you set a target higher than the 19 and the 20 million in your discussions with the ministry --


MR. GREGG:  No.


MR. THOMPSON:  -- based on the 50 million that the Board had disallowed?


MR. GREGG:  No.


MR. THOMPSON:  Did you set a target of about 20 million?  Did you set any targets?


MR. GREGG:  What you see are reductions reflected in the application before you.  I don't know what you mean by setting targets.


MR. THOMPSON:  You presented a plan.  You were going to file a rate case on the basis of it.  Your owner said, Hold the phone.  Go back and come up with some reductions.  This is my paraphrase.


And so faced with that informal, if you will, direction from the owner, when you went back and asked yourself, What should we be doing here, my question is:  Did you consider that the Board had just decided in distribution you should cut by 50 million a year in O&M?


MR. GREGG:  It was certainly was part of the consideration, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And how did you land on 19 and 20?


MR. GREGG:  It was really a risk-based assessment.


I know panel 2 will go into this in greater detail, because it is sustainment activities, primarily, that we're talking about there.


But we were mindful that any further reduction from what was stakeholdered in March, we did not want to be increasing in any material fashion the risk to the reliability and safety of the system.


And so we developed reductions in deferrals of the 19 and 20 million in the two test years, respectively, and then a larger bulk of the adjustment came from in-service date adjustments and a review of major that resulted in a significant reduction of rate base that you previously referred to.  That is the 400 million in '11 and 500 million in '12.


MR. THOMPSON:  How is it determined what could be deferred and what could not be deferred?  Is that again risk-based?


MR. GREGG:  Yes.  Well, some of it was actual adjustments to -- project wise.  There are all sort of impacts that could lead to a deferral of a project.  Do you want to add to that, Bing?


MR. YOUNG:  Yes.  From the development perspective, some of that was based on the consideration of the FIT program being delayed somewhat from the original expectations, and recognizing that we were waiting for further direction on the major projects, that it was prudent, in fact, to be deferring or delaying some of these projects that are listed here.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, could any more be deferred or delayed, given the degree of concern that you are faced with with respect to customer impacts?


MR. YOUNG:  From a development perspective, I would say no.  As I discussed yesterday or the day before, we see all of the development program is non-discretionary projects.


MR. GREGG:  From a sustainment perspective, we are not the sustainment panel.  Panel 2 can deal with it, but I am aware that we do not feel that we should be making any further cuts to our sustainment plans, because we have talked previously about the aging system that we've got and the need to ensure that we are investing adequately to ensure safe, reliable operation.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Let me move to my -- that's the chronology.  Let me just move to this last context piece about your understanding as to the green end state that is currently contemplated.


I wanted to start with a reference to Exhibit A, tab 11, schedule 4, page 2.  And there, at line 24, you are talking about an electricity system redesigned to integrate up to 10,000 megawatts and beyond of potential renewable generation.


Is it your understanding that the 10,000 megawatts of renewable generation is the currently contemplated end state?


MR. GREGG:  Yes.  Perhaps Mr. Young would want to add more to that.


MR. YOUNG:  10,000 megawatts is currently the -- approximately the level of generation of renewable generation that is on the -- of FIT applications that have applied to the OPA.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.


MR. YOUNG:  Oh.  And as Mr. Gregg has just pointed out, in addition to that, there is also the agreement with the Korean consortium for another 2,500 megawatts of renewable energy for the province.


MR. THOMPSON:  And Hydro One is aware of what the OPA is paying for these renewable sources for wind and solar?


MR. YOUNG:  Yes.  The FIT prices are published.


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  So if Hydro One wanted to calculate the cost consequences on the commodity charge of achieving that end state, it could come up with reasonable estimates of those numbers; correct?


MR. GREGG:  That's publicly available information.


MR. YOUNG:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.  Now, on the conservation side, in response to CME No. 9, if I read this correctly, I think you are telling us that Hydro One expects to receive 350 million from the OPA for conservation measures.  Do I understand that correctly?


MR. GREGG:  Sorry, which IR?


MR. THOMPSON:  Sorry.  It is Exhibit I, tab 3, schedule 9, I believe.  The last sentence reads:

"Current estimates of required GAM funding to meet the Distribution Licence condition totals approximately $350 M over the 2011 to 2014 period..."


I took that to be Hydro One's share of that revenue.  This may not be your responsibilities, though.


MR. GREGG:  It's not, but I believe you are correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And, again, just big picture, in the coloured slide material -- that's Exhibit KX2.6, and it is at slide 12.  I don't intend to refer to any numbers, but there is a red line starting in -- I think it is 2010 going out to 2019, and it is called "External GAM".


I just wondered, is that a reference to what is being discussed in your answer to CME No. 9?


MR. GREGG:  Can I see that exhibit?  It is certainly referring to the global adjustment in the slide.  Let me just see the CME IR.


I believe they're referring to the same thing.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And so in terms of all of the distributors in Ontario, Hydro One has about one quarter of the distribution load in Ontario; is that fair?


MR. GREGG:  That is approximately correct, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Let's then move to my part 2, which won't be terribly -- too terribly long because of the context discussion we have had.


The first topic in part 2 of my cross outline is the significance of customer impacts in Hydro One's planning process.


My question, Mr. Gregg, is of you.  How would you describe the significance of customer impacts for this particular case compared to their significance in prior Hydro One cases?


MR. GREGG:  It is fair to say that the customer impact would be more significant in this case compared to previous ones, in terms of increase to our transmission rate.


MR. THOMPSON:  And so does it follow from that you gave it more weight in this case, compared to prior cases?


MR. GREGG:  We were certainly mindful of it.  Any time we are adding to electricity bills of our customers, we are mindful of that impact.


MR. THOMPSON:  Did you give it more weight in this case than in prior cases?


MR. GREGG:  I would -- I would say yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.  Now, based on what you have told me about the context, I suggest to you that Hydro One knew well before the end of March of 2010 the activities the OPA had planned for 2010 and beyond, and their likely impact on commodity prices.  You would have a general idea of that?


MR. GREGG:  Sure.


MR. THOMPSON:  And you would have an idea of the conservation targets the OPA and the ministry would be establishing, and the cost impacts of all of that?


MR. GREGG:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  And you had a good idea of the renewable end-state targets, and the likely cost consequences of all of that?


MR. GREGG:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Now, would you agree that from an access to information perspective, the ministry, Hydro One, and perhaps even the Board are in a better position than anyone else to estimate these impacts?


Ministry has your five-year plans.  It has OPG's five-year plans.  The Board likely has --


MR. GREGG:  I would say that may be true for the ministry, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Okay.  So let's just look at what bill impacts your directors considered.


Let's first start in end of February.  Again, I will be referring to the confidential, but I will try and keep this at a conceptual level, so we don't get into any numbers.


Now, you weren't there in February -- well, you don't think you were there?


MR. GREGG:  I don't think I was.


MR. THOMPSON:  You don't remember being there, Mr. Gregg?


MR. GREGG:  No, certainly not for this part.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So maybe -- was anybody else on the panel there?


MR. GREGG:  I don't believe so, no.


MR. THOMPSON:  Maybe I have to leave these to panel 4, but perhaps you could help me with a number that is in -- it is page 8 of KX2.6.


It is for 2009, so it is a historic number.  It has:  "Total bill 1,000 kilowatt-hours, $117.37."


Do you know whether that is representative of a typical residential, a typical non-residential?  Do you know the source of that information, Mr. Gregg, by any chance?


MR. GREGG:  I don't know all of the specifics of the source of that information.


What I can tell you is that for the test years in this application, the total bill impact in '11 will be 1.2 percent and in 2012 will be 0.7 percent.


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  That is transmission only?


MR. GREGG:  On this application, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  But if you look cumulative for transmission and distribution, for -- at least, I think -- can I refer to these numbers, Mr. Rogers?  Certainly, I guess, the 2011 I can.


MR. ROGERS:  Yes.  2011 is all right.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  What we're seeing there on a cumulative basis, six percent in 2010 and 11.4 percent in 2011.


That is transmission and distribution combined?


MR. GREGG:  Well, 2011, where we have approved distribution rates, we had a 3.5 percent increase approved there in 2011, and so combined with what we're asking for in 2011 for transmission, we would be at 4.7 percent.


MR. THOMPSON:  What is this cumulative number telling me here for 2011 in this --


MR. GREGG:  I am not sure if that includes -- I am not sure what that includes at that time.  I am just relying on the facts of what our approved DX is for 2011, and what we are requesting in this application for TX.


MR. THOMPSON:  It looks like you were presenting to your directors in February, that is 11.4 percent in '11?


MR. GREGG:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Am I missing something here?


MR. ROGERS:  This table, I am instructed, may be pre the DX decision.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Well, there is something updated coming.  Maybe that will help me.


All right.  Anyway, back to the 117.37, the reason I wanted to try and get your information as to the source of that number is, if you look at CME -- the response to CME No. 3, where we asked -- it is actually to Board Staff 18, Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 18.  This is what CME 3 refers us to.


We wanted to get information about how you have calculated total bill impact.  You will see on the second page that the -- for 2009, as I understood it from this document, the 2010 -- the baseline was $10.36 per kilowatt-hour or $103.60 per kilowatt-hour.


And that doesn't seem to me to reconcile with the $117.37.  Can you help me with those numbers, Mr. Gregg or anyone else?


MR. GREGG:  Subject to check, but I see in the coloured slides on page 8, we're assuming 1,000 kilowatts per hour.


It may be that this table is referring to a lower amount.  I think it might be based on 800 rather than 1,000.


MR. THOMPSON:  Would that affect the unit cost so much?


MR. GREGG:  It would affect the overall cost.


MR. THOMPSON:  No.  But expressed on a cents-per-kilowatt-hour basis?


MR. ROGERS:  We are comparing apples and oranges, I am instructed.  Panel 6 would be a better panel to pursue this level of detail with, if I could suggest that, Mr. Chairman.


MR. THOMPSON:  The reason I was coming to those numbers -- and I will just put this on the record and I will see if you can help me with this -- but in response to CME No. 6, I believe -- let me make sure I get that -- yes.


You provide a number of sample bills, and the actual dollars -- this may be for panel 6.


MR. GREGG:  Yes.  That would be appropriate for panel 6.


MR. THOMPSON:  But the numbers in the bills that were provided for 1,000 kilowatt-hours, I had, by my calculations -- came out to $174.42 per -- compared to the $117 shown in your slide.


What I was really interested in is what did Hydro One customers -- what were they faced with in 2010, from a 2009 bill to the end of 2010?


I looked at these numbers and thought:  Wow, that is about a 48-percent increase.  And the evidence from Mr. Sharp is that others were faced with a 15 to 20 percent increase.


And my question is:  At a conceptual level, what was average 1,000 kilowatt-hour customer of Hydro One facing in 2010, in terms of percentage increase?


MR. GREGG:  Again, sir, I think that would be most appropriately dealt with on panel 6.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, did any of the directors in February or May ask that question:  What are these people going to get hit with in 2010?


MR. GREGG:  I wasn't privy to that discussion, as I previously stated.  So I couldn't speak to --


MR. THOMPSON:  What do you mean you weren't privy?  You weren't aware --


MR. GREGG:  I wasn't involved in that part of the meeting.


MR. THOMPSON:  I see.  Well, who would be involved in that part of the meeting?


MR. GREGG:  Well, from what we're looking at, Mr. Struthers.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  In terms of whether any directors asked the question, looking at slide 8 in Exhibit KX2.6, well, what are the commodity prices going to do in this time frame, and what are the regulatory costs going to do?


Is that a discussion that you would not be privy to?


MR. GREGG:  I don't believe I was involved in this discussion, no.


MR. THOMPSON:  So you don't know whether the directors considered those questions or didn't consider them?


MR. GREGG:  I am not aware, because I wasn't there.  Mr. Struthers was there, so he should be able to give you information.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  All right.  Well, I will have to leave parts of those questions to Mr. Struthers.


Now, I think I am at my -- the last topic here with respect to my part 2.  I didn't give you the headings of, I think, 2 and 3.  But, anyway, part 4 of my part 2 is the capacity for further belt tightening.  This may not be for you, Mr. Gregg, but I will put it on the record now.


I don't think you need to turn this up, but in the revenue deficiency exhibit, Exhibit E1, tab 1, schedule 1, would you take, subject to check, that the revenue deficiency Hydro One's asking the Board to approve for 2011 is -- it is the rates revenue deficiency of $188.1 million?


MR. GREGG:  I see that on page 3.


MR. THOMPSON:  And for 2012, it is $121.7 million?


MR. GREGG:  Correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Now, you have had a lot of discussion with others about CWIP, and in CME No. 11 -- and you may have referred to this earlier in your examination, but CME No. 11 indicates that if the CWIP claim is not allowed in 2011 and 2012, the deficiency reductions in each year will be 46.7 million in 2011 and 26.0 million in 2012.


Would you take that subject to check?


MR. GREGG:  Is it not 43-point...


MR. THOMPSON:  Have I got the number wrong?


MR. GREGG:  I see 43-point...


MR. THOMPSON:  43.7?


MR. GREGG:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  I'm sorry.  I misspoke myself.


Okay.  I have heard all of your evidence about that this is a great benefit to customers, but it doesn't seem that any customer groups want it at this time.  Did Hydro One consider that?


MR. GREGG:  I see my counsel leaning forward.


MR. ROGERS:  That last presumption remains to be seen.  I am not so sure it is correct, Mr. Chairman.  I think some customer groups do favour it.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, let me put it to you this way.  Given the customer impacts that we have been discussing, did you consider whether it was timely to seek CWIP in this particular test period?


MR. GREGG:  We feel, with the overall net benefit of CWIP on Bruce to Milton, that it is more beneficial to customers.  That's why we have chosen to do it.


I think I have put on the record that -- and we had ample discussion previously about the benefit there.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, that's fine.  We will leave it there.


With respect to the Green Energy Plans, I think it is in your response to CCC No. 4.  The deficiency impact of that in 2011, as I understand the evidence, is about $900,000.


Have I got that straight?


MR. GREGG:  Which tab is that?


MR. THOMPSON:  I had that at CCC, tab 10, No. 4, I believe.  That's what my notes say, anyway.


MR. GREGG:  That's correct, 900,000 in 2011.


MR. THOMPSON:  And 10.3 million in 2012?


MR. GREGG:  Correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  Am I correct that those deficiency amounts are primarily capital related; i.e., they're either carrying costs and capital and not a lot of other stuff?


MR. GREGG:  Correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  Now, having regard to all of the uncertainty we have heard about and the down tools letter and the further inquisition that is going to be on in terms of getting inputs from others in the province, is there any possibility that those amounts will either not be incurred or will be incurred in significantly less amounts?


MR. GREGG:  While there is still some uncertainty as to the timing, we still believe there will be significant investment in those areas.  And there are also the schedule B projects that are required.


MR. THOMPSON:  But just taking 2011, for example, the $900,000, is that likely to be pushed off in -- is there any probability that that could be pushed off to 2012?  It sounds much to me like it is a forecast in-service date that is right near the end of the year.


MR. YOUNG:  There is a significant portion of the 2011 expenditures for the schedule B projects which are related to protection and control expenditures, where we need to make those in 2011 to connect the FIT generation which already have been awarded contracts.


MR. THOMPSON:  What about the 10.3 million?  Is there any possibility that a material amount of that could be pushed off?


MR. YOUNG:  The bulk of the 10.3 represents the upgrades to the Hearn and Leaside stations, which are coming in service in 2012, and, together, they represent, just off the top of my head, about $120 million of in-service additions for 2012.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  We have discussed the O&M capacity for further adjustments, and we have discussed pace of projects.


If the export revenues mount -- if the export revenue tariff went from one dollar to three dollars, would that produce a significant reduction in the revenue deficiency presented -- rates revenue deficiency presented in the revenue requirement exhibits?


MR. YOUNG:  Hydro One doesn't get the export tariff.  I believe it goes into the global adjustment.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, I will follow that up with the export --


MR. ROGERS:  I suggest that you -- Mr. Chairman, that panel 4 might deal with that.  I am not sure that is quite correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  That's fine.


Okay.  Well, I think the rest of this is probably for the panel 4 panel.  So thank you very much, witnesses, for your patience.  I am done.


MR. GREGG:  Thank you.


MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Thompson.  Mr. Stephenson.

Cross-Examination by Mr. Stephenson:


MR. STEPHENSON:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  Panel, my name is Richard Stephenson.  I am counsel for the Power Workers' Union.


I just want to start by tidying up a couple of smaller items.  Mr. Gregg, I think this is for you.


When you were being examined by Mr. Warren, he -- on the issue of the interaction between the minister's letter to Hydro One in, I believe it is, May 5th, 2010, and then the presentation to the Board regarding the new proposed rates case in, I believe it is, May 13th of 2010, he was, I think, suggesting to you that it strained credulity that Hydro One essentially retooled its whole rates case in the span of eight days.


You recall that line of questions?


MR. GREGG:  I do.


MR. STEPHENSON  Okay.  I think we have heard today a lot about what happened between March the 31st of 2010 and May the 5th of 2010 in terms of communications back and forth between Hydro One and the ministry.


You recall that evidence?


MR. GREGG:  I do.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And is it fair to say that there was a lot of explaining going on from Hydro One to educate the ministry staff?  I think you have indicated that; correct?


MR. GREGG:  Yes.  That was largely what was going on in that time.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  But is it fair to say that from Hydro One's perspective, they certainly had a sense that from the ministry's perspective, the ministry was very concerned about a variety of energy cost increases, including Hydro One?  Is it fair?


MR. GREGG:  I think that is fair, but certainly Hydro One has a portion of the broader increases to rates, and including the discussions around the Harmonized Sales Tax.  There are all of those factors going on.


MR. STEPHENSON:  You're swept up in a bigger issue; correct?


MR. GREGG:  Yes.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Is it fair to say within Hydro One -- I am not talking now at this board level, but certainly at the management and at the staff level -- in the period of time between March the 31st and May the 5th, you had at least an anticipation that you might well be asked by the minister to come up with some -- a lower rate impact proposal?


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Stephenson, can I interrupt for a second?  These are very leading questions, as is appropriate in cross-examination.  But I am suggesting that you should only be leading the witness in areas where you are proposing an adverse -- some form of adverse proposition to the witnesses, that it is inappropriate to be leading the witnesses to correct their impressions on areas in which you don't have a disagreement with the application.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Well, I am mindful of your comment.  I am not familiar with any rule of evidence or advocacy that would suggest that.  I must say that is -- I have been at this for a while, and I have never heard that suggestion before, with all due respect.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  You are hearing it today, and I am suggesting that if you want to lead the witnesses in the way that you are, it should be with respect to issues in which you have a -- you find yourself in a position adverse to the application, and not to -- how should I say -- go over the ground that Mr. Rogers, for example, was unable to go over, because his evidence has been filed and he put his witnesses in appropriately.


I think it is a sound proposition.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Well, as far as I am aware, Mr. Chairman, there is only one interest that we are interested in here, and that is the public interest, and that is what I am seeking to pursue.  I am seeking to clarify the witness's answers with respect to a matter which I think is in the public interest.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Rogers has the opportunity for redirect, in order to manage those clarifications.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Well, let me try it another way, and I certainly will hope not to offend anyone in the manner of the questions.


Let me put it slightly differently to you.


Did Hydro One have any expectation in the period of time after March 31st regarding the possibility that the minister might seek Hydro One's assistance by way of a lower rate impact application?


MR. GREGG:  I think I have answered that before, and really, the period before we received the letter from the minister was more characterized by briefings on what was included in what we had gone to the stakeholdering session and we were planning to file on March 31st.


It was an attempt for them to better understand what we were, in fact, going to be requesting in front of this Board.


While we were mindful of media reports and issues in the Legislature, I want to be clear that we weren't asked to make a cut or any -- look at any specific reductions until we received the letter.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Did Hydro One, at the staff level, do any work between March 31 and May the 5th, in terms of assessing potential possibilities to come up with a lower rate impact application?


MR. GREGG:  No.  It wasn't until the receipt of that letter, when -- and I have to ask the minister or minister's staff about what was going on in that period -- as I said, we were briefing staff through that period on what we were requesting in our rate filing.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.


MR. GREGG:  So again, we weren't asked to -- at that time, when we took a time-out from filing the application at that time, we weren't asked not to file.  We were asked just to hold off for a filing until they better understood it.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  Now -- and in terms of the process by which, for example, the sustaining OM&A reductions from March to May arose, I take it that is really a matter for the next panel; am I right about that?


MR. GREGG:  Panel 2, yes.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Fair enough.


Now, with respect to -- my friend, Mr. Shepherd, asked a question of you regarding your, shall I say, understanding of the Board's jurisdiction vis-à-vis a circumstance where the Board concluded that a cost being proposed by Hydro One was prudent, but nevertheless led to a rate impact which -- it was unacceptable.


Do you recall being asked that question?


MR. GREGG:  Yes.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Now, were you giving a legal answer to that question?  What is the -- I just wanted to understand the basis of the answer to the question that you were giving.


I understood that to be a legal question, but I want know what kind of answer you were giving.


MR. GREGG:  I did not provide a legal question.  I am not a lawyer.


MR. STEPHENSON:  All right.  Now, let me ask you about sustaining OM&A and sustaining issue generally.


Mr. Chairman, on this issue, just to be clear, the PWU opposes this application.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That is what I was waiting to hear, Mr. Stephenson, and you can lead -- you can ask leading questions in this area.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Do you agree with me, sir, that the sustainment of the Hydro One system is one of your core obligations as a transmitter in this province?  Is that fair?


MR. GREGG:  It is.  We have to sustain our assets to make sure that the system is reliably and safely operated.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Would you agree with me that in terms of looking at it from the obligation of a current customer of Hydro One, a transmission customer, that part of what they are paying for in their rates today is obviously the cost of operating the system on a day-to-day basis?  Fair?  That is part of what they're paying for in their rates; fair?


MR. GREGG:  Correct.


MR. STEPHENSON:  But in addition to that, there may be other things they're paying for, and I am going to suggest to you that one of the things they're paying for is a share of the cost of sustaining the system for future customers; correct?


MR. GREGG:  Yes, I can see how you could characterize it that way.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Well, every customer -- I am going to suggest to you that every current customer has an obligation to pay its fair share of the sustainment costs, so that next year's customer has a system which is safe and reliable, and so on and so forth; fair?


MR. ROGERS:  I learned from my friend.  I object that that is a legal conclusion he is asking for.  If he wants a lay opinion, I have no problem.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I think you do qualify to give that, Mr. Gregg.


MR. GREGG:  Opinion, you mean?


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Yes.


MR. GREGG:  Well, inasmuch as we invest in long-life assets that have benefit for future generations, I can see how that -- you could come to that conclusion.


MR. STEPHENSON:  I mean, it is just intrinsic nature.  You don't start from scratch every January 1st with a new system.  You don't run it into the ground on December the 31st and start all new every year.


MR. GREGG:  No.  We have a lot of fairly old assets that I am sure Mr. Young could spend hours going over.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.


MR. GREGG:  But hopefully we won't.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  And so the issue, I am going to suggest to you, from a rates perspective, is to determine what's the fair share in any given year that each of this year's customers should contribute towards that exercise.


That's the issue the Board has to decide in determining whether your sustainment expenditures are prudent and reasonable; fair?


MR. GREGG:  I can see how you can characterize it that way.


We think about it in terms of -- sure, we think about it in terms of expected life of assets and what kind of useful life we can get out of that investment.  That certainly is a consideration in our investment planning, but what we bring forward is what we think our assets need to maintain a level of reliability and a level of safe operation on an ongoing basis.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  But that is not just about next week or 2011 or even in 2012.  That is a long-range issue?


MR. GREGG:  Yes.


MR. STEPHENSON:  You have to do work today that is going to bear fruit today, tomorrow, and in the years ahead; correct?


MR. GREGG:  True.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And I am going to suggest to you, if you don't do enough of that work - that is, you don't plan to do enough of that work this year for next year - it causes potentially a number of problems, and I am going to suggest to you a few problems that I suggest it may cause.


If you are not doing enough of that work - and I am not saying for the purposes of this question you aren't, but let's just theoretically say that you are not - the first problem it can cause is there is an increased reliability risk in future years.  Directionally, you would agree with me that that is one of the problems?


MR. GREGG:  I think directionally I will agree with you, but to say that panel 2 has some experts on that panel who could really -- you would benefit from their knowledge.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And I want to deal with this at a corporate level first.  I will deal with it later.


The second kind of risk I am going to suggest to you that it can cause is that there is a shifting of costs from current customers to future customers; right?  This work has to get done sooner or later, and so if you don't do it now, you are going to do it later and somebody else is going to have to pay for it; right?


MR. GREGG:  If an asset needs investment, it is either going to have to happen now or some time in the future, yes.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  And if it happens in the future because you are not doing enough of it today, I am going to suggest to you that one of the consequences, one of the problems of that, is that you have a problem that current customers are, in effect, free riding on the burdens placed on future customers.  That is how it works; right?


MR. GREGG:  I can see how you would say that.  We try to put forward an investment plan that distributes all of that over a reasonable period of time.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And you are mindful of that problem; right?


MR. GREGG:  Yes.


MR. STEPHENSON:  That is one of the factors you take into consideration, because you want to create a scheme whereby everybody pays their fair share, both current customers and future customers; right?


MR. GREGG:  We do our best to bring forward reasonable applications to that effect.


MR. STEPHENSON:  All right.  Now, we are going to hear, I foresee - not that this requires much foresight - that certain groups are going to be saying at the end of this case that you are spending too much money today.  Even if it may be prudent and reasonable in the abstract, you are spending too much money today.  Given all of these other external factors, the rate impact is simply too high, and, as a result, you have got to cut back.


You know that is the sentiment out there; correct?


MR. GREGG:  Yes, I've heard it.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And I just want to give -- you would agree with me that the first two items I have just described -- if in fulfilment of that objective there are cuts to your sustainment budget, the first two problems I have identified are engaged; correct?


MR. GREGG:  Yes.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Increased risk and unfair shifting of costs; right?


MR. GREGG:  Yes.  I think -- yes.  Again, panel 2 can talk to you in depth about increased risk.  I think we have gone over share of costs, but, yes.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  I am just going to -- Mr. Chairman, I am very loathe to do this, but there is one of the confidential documents, and I would like to go in camera very briefly to deal with it.  And I am going to deal with all of the in camera stuff all at once, and that will be it.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So we will -- I will ask Staff to put a sign on the door.  Mr. Rogers, could you make sure there isn't anybody here who shouldn't be here?


MR. ROGERS:  I think we are fine.  Who are these people?


[Laughter]


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  We will go into in camera session. 


--- In camera session resumed at 2:52 p.m.


[Page 147, line 17 to page 154, line 23 have been 


redacted.]


[Page 147, line 17 to page 154, line 23 have been 


redacted.]


--- On resuming public session at 3:00 p.m.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Thank you.


Just to finish up on sustainment, I am just going to suggest to you, sir, that -- Mr. Shepherd made this suggestion to you earlier, that there has been a -- for a variety of reasons, a -- essentially an era of underinvestment on the sustainment side.


And I am not sure that you were prepared to agree with him with that characterization.  Let me just get your answer on that.


Do you acknowledge there has, in fact, been historical underinvestment in the sustainment of the transmission system?


MR. GREGG:  I would say that is a fair characterization, generally.  I wouldn't say that Hydro One is alone in that regard.  I would say that would be a broad industry reality.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  In the last transmission case, we received one of these confidential documents, which I no longer have because we're obliged to destroy them.  But in the transcript, the non-confidential transcript, I cross-examined on this issue last time around.


And one of the Board memos at that time indicated that on the basis of the O&M budget that was being proposed in the rates case, there were spending constraints.


Let me just back up for a second.


You were at Hydro One at the time of the last rate case, which was heard, I believe, in 2009 --


MR. GREGG:  Yes.


MR. STEPHENSON:  -- I think.  Right.


And so you would have been involved at some level at the management level; correct?


MR. GREGG:  Yes.


MR. STEPHENSON:  But you weren't a witness?


MR. GREGG:  No.


MR. STEPHENSON:  But you may recall this, that because of constraints, both with respect to the total envelope and with respect to the need for development work, there was limitations on the amount of money available for sustainment, for the purposes of the work program that was embedded in that rate application.


Do you recall that?


MR. GREGG:  Generally, yes.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And the Board was advised that if the work program that was in fact being proposed was in fact done, it would result in an increased reliability risk.  Okay?  Are you familiar with that?


MR. GREGG:  If the work was done?


MR. STEPHENSON:  If the work was in fact done, the budgeted work would result -- it was insufficient to maintain reliability risk at its current levels.


MR. GREGG:  I don't specifically recall that.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  I will --


MR. GREGG:  Again, you may -- that may be an appropriate question for panel 2.  I suspect it would be.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  I will come back to it.


We do know, however, that you didn't get what you were asking for last time around.  You remember that?


MR. GREGG:  Yes.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And in fact, you got cut by -- I've forgotten -- I think it was $15 million a year on the -- for sustaining O&M for each of the two years; correct?  Does that ring a bell?


MR. GREGG:  That's my recollection, yes.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And in fact, you spent less -- let's put it this way.  You spent at or around what the Board approved, if I recollect, but it certainly was less than you had budgeted for; fair?


MR. GREGG:  That would be correct.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And so am I right that whatever the work that was contained in your work plan, dealing with the Board memo, you did -- you actually wound up doing less than was even being proposed to the Board at the time of your -- putting your application together?  Fair?


MR. GREGG:  Correct.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And so if I am right that the plan, as originally proposed, was forecast to increase reliability risk, the actual did so even more so; correct?


MR. GREGG:  I would say yes.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Now, nevertheless, I take it that part of what you are planning on now and part of the reason why you are asking for what you are asking for is that -- you are now taking this issue, needless to say, very seriously; fair?


MR. GREGG:  Yes.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Would it surprise you, then, that -– let me back up.


One of the factors that is something of a proxy for your asset condition is asset demographics?


MR. GREGG:  It is a factor, yes.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And I am not for a moment suggesting it is a tell-all, but you would agree it is a factor?


MR. GREGG:  It is a factor.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And you've got a five-year plan, in terms of asset replacement of your major components?  I believe there is -- we have documents in the filing about that.


MR. GREGG:  Yes.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Would it surprise you that at the end of the five-year plan, if you actually do what you are planning on doing, that your demographics, in most of your major asset categories, are worse at the end of five years than they are today?


MR. GREGG:  Do you have a comment on that?


[Witness panel confers.]


MR. GREGG:  We better send that to panel 2.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Good idea.  Let me deal with it at a hypothetical level.  If that is true, shouldn't the Board be concerned that you are not doing adequate sustainment work?


MR. GREGG:  I always hate hypotheticals, but, yes, if we were materially increasing risk to our assets by underinvestment, I would imagine that would be of concern to this Board, yes.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And to be fair, we need to be clear about this.  I mean, at the end of the day, it is -- asset condition assessments involve a lot more than demographics, right?


MR. GREGG:  Correct.


MR. STEPHENSON:  But on the other hand, this Board isn't going to go around and start hammering nails into poles and looking at transformers.


So it is an important metric for them, you would agree?


MR. GREGG:  Yes, it is.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay, those are my questions.  Thank you very much, panel.  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Stephenson.


MR. ROGERS:  I'm assuming you are going to adjourn now, sir, for the break?


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Yes.


MR. ROGERS:  I think it is safe for me to release panel 2.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I was about to say you can end the suspense.


MR. ROGERS:  Yes, I will do that.  Just before you do leave, can I just say we have filed, as well, this afternoon the answer to interrogatory -- I'm sorry, undertaking J2.3.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  We will break for 15 minutes.  Thank you.


--- Recess taken at 3:08 p.m.

--- On resuming at 3:26 p.m.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  Please be seated.


Mr. Aiken?


MR. AIKEN:  Thank you, sir.

Cross-Examination by Mr. Aiken:


MR. AIKEN:  Panel, my name is Randy Aiken.  I am a consultant to BOMA and LPMA in this proceeding.


I have some very brief questions on the CWIP, accelerated cost recovery.  Much of this has been covered earlier today by Mr. Shepherd, so I just have a few questions left over.


It will be helpful if you have two interrogatories in front of you.  The responses to BOMA Interrogatory No. 38, that is Exhibit I, tab 6, schedule 38, that is the first one.  The second one is a VECC interrogatory response, Exhibit I, tab 4, schedule 74.  Do you have those?


MR. GREGG:  Yes.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  First, in the BOMA response, part (b), the response to the question was that the forecast amount of 2011, AFUDC, if the CWIP in rate base approach was denied, would be 26.4 million.


Then if you look at the VECC response, which my understanding is a calculation of the AFUDC in 2011 and 2012, I see the amount there calculated of 27.2 million for 2011.


So I am wondering what is the difference.  Is there a different interest rate being used?


MR. ROGERS:  Can I volunteer an undertaking there, for that level of detail?  I can see the witnesses don't know offhand, and I am sure it can be explained more quickly by an undertaking.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.


MS. LEA:  J3.9, please.

UNDERTAKING NO. K3.9:  to EXPLAIN DIFFERENCE UNDER AFUDC AMOUNT BETWEEN RESPONSES TO BOMA INTERROGATORY AND VECC INTERROGATORY, AND DIFFERENCE IN AMOUNT BETWEEN VECC INTERROGATORY RESPONSE AND AMOUNT FOR CAPITAL SPENDING SHOWN IN EXHIBIT 1, TAB 1, SCHEDULE 122, ATTACHMENT 2.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.


MR. AIKEN:  Then if you keep the VECC interrogatory in front of you, and Mr. Shepherd's cross-examination materials this morning, K3.1, specifically tab 2, which is Interrogatory 122 from Board Staff, I am going to be referring to attachment 2 to that interrogatory.


MR. GREGG:  122, attachment 2.


MR. AIKEN:  This is a similar question, so I am going to presume that the response is also going to be an undertaking.


But in the VECC interrogatory response for 2012, the AFUDC amount is calculated as 17.6 million.  And then on page 1 of 3 of attachment 2 of Exhibit 1, tab 1, schedule 122, we have the capital-expenditure-by-year box down in the right-hand corner.  There is an AFUDC line there, and the number showing up for 2012 is 40.9 million.


MR. ROGERS:  I am instructed that the 40.9 is the overhead number, and the AFUDC, I can't read it... 24.8?


MS. LEA:  I didn't hear the last part of that.


MR. ROGERS:  It's 24.8.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.


MR. ROGERS:  Which may still be different, I don't know.


MR. AIKEN:  My understanding, the 24.8 is for the up-to-2010.  I am looking at the 2012 column, in the "AFUDC" line.


MR. ROGERS:  Could I suggest that we add that as part of the undertaking I have already given, to explain that discrepancy, J3.9?


MS. LEA:  Yes, thank you.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Is that satisfactory, Mr. Aiken?  Does that address your question, Mr. Aiken?


MR. AIKEN:  Yes, it does.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.


MR. AIKEN:  Now, based on the level of uncomfortableness you had with Mr. Shepherd this morning, am I correct in assuming that if I have any questions related to the analysis in Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 122, around sensitivity analysis or changing some of the numbers, that would be a panel 4 question?


MR. GREGG:  Yes.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Just one, I guess, policy question, then, and that is instead of the CWIP in rate base approach, did Hydro One consider a recovery of AFUDC approach?


MR. GREGG:  Yes.


MR. AIKEN:  And why did you reject that?


MR. GREGG:  We're recommending the CWIP approach, because of the demonstrated net benefit to customers, but on an AFUDC approach -- I think as I mentioned to Mr. Shepherd this morning -- the costs would be $762.9 million.


MR. AIKEN:  I'm sorry, when I say the AFUDC approach, that reflects, I think, what the VECC IR was getting at.


The question in VECC 74 is:

"Provide a calculation based on table 2 of the 2011 and 2012 CWIP/AFUDC, using Hydro One's all corporate midterm average weighted bond yield, rather than the full cost of capital."


So I think the implication there is this is an approach that would allow Hydro One to recover in 2011 and 2012 the AFUDC amounts, rather than full cost of capital?


MR. GREGG:  Again, panel 4 could answer about the consideration of that.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.


As promised, I was brief.  Those are my questions.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Aiken.  Ms. Lea?


MS. LEA:  Thank you.

Cross-Examination by Ms. Lea:


MS. LEA:  Good afternoon, gentlemen.  One of the disadvantages of going last in the order, although I appreciate it for many other reasons, is that my cross-examination will necessarily be a little bit disjointed.  I am going to be filling in a few gaps, et cetera.


I would like to begin, please, with some discussion of some of the projects in your Green Energy Transmission Green Energy Plan.


And I would like to look at projects D37 and D38 that are referred to in the capital description, but it is specifically Staff 117, Staff IR 117 that I would like you to look at in considering these questions, Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 117.


That interrogatory deals with the proposal to build two inline circuit breakers in the test years, and I gather from the evidence that the inline circuit breakers will be in service in 2012, and you are proposing to book $40 million to rate base in 2012.  Do I understand the evidence correctly?


MR. YOUNG:  Yes, that's correct.


MS. LEA:  And as these capital expenditures -- or rather, as this project is a category 2 project, the capital expenditures will be booked into the test year rate base; is that right?


MR. YOUNG:  Yes, that's correct.


MS. LEA:  In response to that Staff Interrogatory 117, then, you indicate that the location of the inline breakers is not presently known, and will be determined after the economic connection test, ECT process, is completed.


And in fact, in part (b) of 117 you say that these projects have not been confirmed by the OPA.


Now, you indicated Tuesday, I think, to Mr. Faye that it has now been established through the connection assessment process that at least one inline breaker will be needed; am I right?


MR. YOUNG:  Yes, that's correct.  At least one by 2012.  We have confirmed another one needed by 2013.  There is another one that may likely be required by 2012.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  So which inline breaker are you pretty certain or almost certain will be needed in 2012?


MR. YOUNG:  There is a project, a FIT project -- I don't have the specific name -- which is being connected in the Nanticoke area.


MS. LEA:  Mm-hmm.  But of your projects that -- I was looking at D37 and D38, for example.  Can you give me the reference in your evidence to the work you have to do?


MR. YOUNG:  I am not sure I understand the question.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  I am trying to figure out which of the projects in your Green Energy Plan is now certain to occur in 2012, as you indicated to Mr. Faye.


MR. YOUNG:  It is the FIT projects, the generations which are coming to Hydro One to be connected, and so in doing so, it is determined that an in-line breaker is required to make that connection.


MS. LEA:  And so do you have knowledge of the location of the in-line breaker yet?


MR. YOUNG:  Yes, we do.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  So the -- what degree of certainty is there regarding the cost, then, of that in-line breaker?


MR. YOUNG:  We have only preliminary estimates at this time.


MS. LEA:  And the second one that you believe will occur in 2012, is that included in the cost estimate that is in your prefiled evidence?


MR. YOUNG:  Yes, it is.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  So what degree of certainty do you have about the costs, then, that you have booked into rate base for 2012 and are asking recovery for?


MR. YOUNG:  At the time of the filing, they were preliminary estimates, given that we didn't know the location of these projects, and we were basing it on historical projects that involved in-line breakers.


MS. LEA:  Can you now give us an update of your cost estimates?


MR. YOUNG:  We haven't gotten into the estimating phase for these projects yet.  They're still in the process of the connection assessments.


MS. LEA:  I guess it is obvious what my concern is.  If the Board approves the plan, or at least the part of the plan that deals with these breakers, and we add $40 million to your rate base, you will earn a return on that amount, and if these projects do not materialize, then you could potentially over earn.


Can you help us further as to an understanding of what the Board can rely on in ensuring that doesn't happen?


MR. ROGERS:  If I could interrupt?


MS. LEA:  Yes.


MR. ROGERS:  The concept is correct, but I think the $40 million number is not correct, because you if take -- you made your point, I understand, so it would be $20 million that would go into rate base, not 40.  But the concept is otherwise correct.


MS. LEA:  All right, thank you.


So you are proposing to book $20 million into rate base in 2012?


MR. YOUNG:  Yes, that's correct.


MS. LEA:  And my question then still stands.  Can the Board rely, with certainty, on that cost estimate?


MR. YOUNG:  It is the best available estimate we have at this time.  And certainly as we complete the connection assessments with these projects and we get into the detailed engineering estimating for these, we will have better costs at that time.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  Leave those projects for a moment and look at a number of categories --


MR. QUESNELLE:  Ms. Lea, could I just ask for some clarity here?


MS. LEA:  Yes.


MR. QUESNELLE:  I heard two different dates.  You're referring to 2012, and I heard Mr. Young refer to 2013.  Am I understanding that one of the projects you now know for certain would not occur before 2013?


MR. YOUNG:  That's right.  There are three projects potentially requiring three in-line breakers.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Maybe that is my mistake.  Sorry.  Thank you.


MS. LEA:  Two in 2012 and one in 2013, as I understood it.


MR. YOUNG:  That's correct.


MR. QUESNELLE:  We are still talking two in 2012?


MR. YOUNG:  Potentially two, yes.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.


MS. LEA:  Turning to category 3 projects, there were two enabling transmission stations, projects D32 and D33, for reference.


And you do not know the locations yet of where those may be required, am I right?


MR. YOUNG:  No, we do not.


MS. LEA:  Now, the total gross cost for these two enabling stations is $67 million at about 33-1/2 million dollars each.  Are those estimates still your best estimate?


MR. YOUNG:  They are.


MS. LEA:  Okay.


MR. YOUNG:  They're preliminary estimates.  We haven't -- not knowing where the location is nor the particular size of the facility required, these are just preliminary estimates.


MS. LEA:  All right.  So the estimates are preliminary, and, in addition, you are not seeking to recover costs in the test year.


But you do say, with respect to your category 3 projects, that you are seeking guidance from the Board on the appropriateness of need, proposed solution and recoverability of project cost.


What I am trying to understand with respect to these projects, what are you asking the Board to do?  You're not seeking to recover costs now.  What sort of statement are you seeking, or what are you seeking?


MR. YOUNG:  We see these projects as potentially being identified and work to begin on those projects needing to start in the test years.


Now, before we will do that, of course, is identification of those projects will have to be confirmed by the OPA's ECT process.  But given that the OPA is planning to be conducting that ECT process this fall and early next year, between -- in the test years some, indication of an enabler TS may be required.


So these are expenditures in the test years that we are, at this point, with the information that we have, estimating that we might need to make.


MS. LEA:  But you are not at present time seeking recovery in the test year?


MR. YOUNG:  No, that's right.  We don't believe that 

-- given the timing right now that we understand of the ECT process, it is quite likely that an enabler will not be able to be built by that time.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  Now, did I misunderstand your evidence, when you were discussing these with Mr. Faye, that these are partially load connection projects or that one of them is?


MR. YOUNG:  I don't recall that conversation.  These enabling TS were meant to be, if you will, like a generator step-up station.


They're for the purpose of installing a large cluster of generation that is on the distribution system.


MS. LEA:  All right, thank you.  Then I think I just misheard that piece of evidence.


I wonder if you could look, please, at Exhibit C -- C1, tab 2, schedule 4; C1, tab 2, schedule 4, page 10 of that exhibit.  There is a table 1 at page 10 of C1, tab 2, schedule 4.


MR. YOUNG:  Yes, I have it.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  There you provide some historic and future spending on development work.


I note that in 2010 you estimated to spend $8.2 million on seven projects.  Now, given the situation that we presently face, how much have you actually spent in 2010 on those projects?


MR. YOUNG:  In total, in 2010, we've spent a little bit over $5 million.  Specific numbers were provided in interrogatory responses.  If you just give me a moment...


MS. LEA:  Thank you.


MR. YOUNG:  They were provided in Interrogatory Responses I-2-72 all the way to I-2-78 for the Schedule A development work for the Schedule A projects, and they collectively total, I believe, just under 5 million.


Then there is some development work for, of course, the Toronto stations.


MS. LEA:  Okay, thank you.  I wonder if I could ask some more general questions about the Green Energy Plan.


Are you at this time asking the Board to approve your transmission Green Energy Plan in its entirety as filed?


MR. GREGG:  Yes.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  I wonder if I could ask you to look at two exhibits that I propose to enter.


One is a screen shot from the OPA website which is entitled "FIT Program Timeline", and the other is the minister's recent direction to the OPA dated September 17th.


I think Mr. Thiessen has copies of those for all.  My friends have them and the panel of witnesses has them.


I gather, Mr. Rogers, no objection to me filing these?


MR. ROGERS:  No.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  I wonder if the "FIT Program Timeline" screen shot could be K3.3, and the most recent directive to the Ontario Power Authority from the minister K3.4.

EXHIBIT NO. K3.3:  SCREEN SHOT FROM OPA WEBSITE ENTITLED "FIT PROGRAM TIMELINE".
EXHIBIT NO. K3.4:  MINISTER'S LETTER TO OPA DATED SEPTEMBER 17, 2010.

MS. LEA:  Do you have those in front of you --


MR. GREGG:  We do.


MS. LEA:  -- the witness panel?


MR. GREGG:  We do.


MS. LEA:  Okay, thank you.  Are you all right there, Harold?


Do you have a sense, yourself, from your conversations with either the Ontario Power Authority or the minister, as to when the OPA may provide updated advice to the minister or when the minister may provide to you instructions?


MR. GREGG:  Not at this point.  We don't have a general sense of time lines, no.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  Now, the screen shot from the Ontario Power Authority website entitled "FIT Program Timeline", there is an update on that page dated July 27th, 2010 indicating that the time lines for the ECT and the rollout of the FIT program have been changed and an updated version will be given.


I have not seen any updated dates.  Have you?


MR. YOUNG:  We have not.


MS. LEA:  So it appears, then, that the -- or is it your information that the ECT was not begun in August of 2010?


MR. GREGG:  I believe that's correct.


MS. LEA:  Do you have, then, any reason to believe that it is going to start this fall?  I mean, I don't know what information you may have.


MR. GREGG:  I don't have specific information.  I know there is certainly a need for it.  There are a lot of applications that have been received by the OPA.  Perhaps Mr. Young has...


MR. YOUNG:  The OPA is reviewing their schedule now for the ECT; that, we understand.  Specifically when it starts, we don't have that information at this time.


MS. LEA:  All right.  Thank you.


The minister's letter to the OPA that you originally filed in your evidence -- I think it was the May 7th direction asking for the updated transmission plan -- that letter emphasizes the sequencing necessary to meet the needs of the FIT program and the Korean consortium, and this is emphasized in the directive I've put in front of you as well, dated September 17th.


The minister's directive mentions the Bruce-to-Milton projects.


What projects, in your Green Energy Plan, do you believe will be meeting the needs of the Korean consortium, or do you know?


MR. YOUNG:  The main project, of course, is the Bruce-to-Milton project.


MS. LEA:  Is there anything else there that you are confident actually addresses the needs of the Korean consortium?


MR. YOUNG:  Well, right now, we don't know where exactly the 500 megawatts that is referred to in this letter is going to be sited.  So it is very difficult to give that kind of answer.  But certainly, if they're siting within the Bruce area, then the capacity provided by the Bruce-to-Milton line will definitely be needed.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  So you need to wait for further information, OPA advice, that kind of thing?


MR. GREGG:  Yes.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  Do you have any other knowledge as to which of the 18 projects in the –- or, I guess, 20 projects in the original Schedule A and the 18 that you filed in your transmission plan are likely to be included in an updated transmission plan?


MR. GREGG:  Not at this time.


MS. LEA:  Given that level of uncertainty, I don't understand what you are asking the Board to approve with respect to the major projects in your Green Energy Plan.


What does approval of the Green Energy Plan mean in that context?


MR. YOUNG:  There is -– in a –-


MS. LEA:  Take a moment.


MR. YOUNG:  Of course, there is the Schedule A projects.


MS. LEA:  Right.


MR. YOUNG:  But there is also the Schedule B projects.


MS. LEA:  Right.  Let's just deal with Schedule A to begin with, because that is why I asked you upfront whether you were seeking approval of the plan in its entirety.


I accept that we need to talk about Schedule B.


Schedule A projects, major projects, I don't understand what approval of this Board would mean or what it is you are seeking.


MR. ROGERS:  Could I take that under advisement?  I mean, I appreciate the uncertainty of this, and I don't believe, as a matter of fact, there is any obligation on the company to even apply for approval of the Green Energy Plan, because the Board has not mandated that they do so.


But this is a policy issue.  I would be grateful if I could just have the evening to confer with my clients and provide an answer next day.


MS. LEA:  Absolutely.  Do you want me to mark that as an undertaking, Mr. Rogers, just so we remember?  Or do you not want me to bother?  It is up to you.


MR. ROGERS:  Let's do an undertaking, then.  I won't forget about it.


MS. LEA:  All right.  Okay. J3.10.

UNDERTAKING NO. J3.10:  TO EXPLAIN WHAT OEB APPROVAL OF SCHEDULE A PROJECTS WOULD MEAN AND WHAT IT IS HYDRO ONE IS SEEKING, AND EXPLAIN WHY HYDRO ONE IS SEEKING DETERMINATION OF NEED AND APPROVAL OF COST RECOVERY FOR MAJOR PROJECTS.

MS. LEA:  On that same line -- and just to finish all my line of questioning on the major projects with respect to this issue, then -- you have also indicated you will be seeking a determination of need and an approval of cost recovery for the major projects later, because they're going to require section 92 filings for need, and subsequent cost-of-service applications for approval, even of the development costs you are putting in your deferral account.


So again, if you could address what you are seeking with respect to those projects, that would be great.


MR. ROGERS:  We will make that part of the same undertaking, Mr. Chairman.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.


MS. LEA:  Turning then to the other projects, the Schedule B projects, now, are you asking the Board, then, to approve the Schedule B projects that are in your Green Energy Plan?


MR. YOUNG:  Yes, we are.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  And again, I have some trouble with that for the same sorts of reasons we discussed, but let me be a little more specific.


For category 2 projects, you are seeking to recover the costs that are in the application from ratepayers in the test years; correct?


MR. YOUNG:  That's correct.


MS. LEA:  And for category 3 projects, there is no test year impact?


MR. YOUNG:  That's correct.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  And you have indicated in your evidence already that the specifics with respect to some of the projects is not known, location, in some cases, need, certainly cost estimates.


None of these are yet certain for some projects.  Would you agree?


MR. YOUNG:  Yes, I would.


MS. LEA:  How can the Board approve those projects?


MR. YOUNG:  Well, we see these projects as needing to proceed in order to connect the generation projects that have been awarded FIT contracts.


You have heard in the last two days about the need on the part of many to improve the short-circuit capability at the Toronto stations, as well as I have mentioned that there is also a significant end-of-life component.


So those projects, we believe, need to proceed.  We provided the Board the best estimates that we have at this time.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  Thank you.  I appreciate that.


And there are indeed projects in the plan that do have more certain details, and there are some with fewer details; is that correct?


MR. YOUNG:  I think that would be a fair characterization.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  Thank you.  Perhaps -- and this may also go to something that Mr. Rogers wants to answer in his undertaking -- so I have asked you if the Board approves the plan, what does that mean?


I would also ask you to consider -- unless you want to volunteer some thoughts now -- if the Board fails to approve the plan, if the Board fails to approve the plan, what are the consequences for Hydro One?


Now, I understand that there are some projects for which you plan spending in the test year, and I want to hold those aside for a moment.  But for those projects for which you do not plan spending in the test year, what would be the consequences of a failure to approve the Green Energy Plan to Hydro One, and could the Board approve the plan in part?


MR. GREGG:  You're referring to the Schedule A projects?


MS. LEA:  No, I'm not.


MR. GREGG:  A and B?


MS. LEA:  I am looking at both in a sense.  I was focussing on B, because as Mr. Young very correctly points out, there are some projects there that need to go ahead.


MR. GREGG:  Yes.


MS. LEA:  And there is some evidence about it.  But for those projects for which need has not been determined, location has not been established and cost estimates are preliminary, within the Schedule B projects.


MR. GREGG:  Yes.


MS. LEA:  Which are the same as the Schedule A now.  What is the consequence of a failure to approve for those projects for which you are not seeking recovery in the test year?


Is there a problem for Hydro One if the Board does not approve the entire Green Energy Plan?


MR. GREGG:  I am thinking my way through that.  I guess there could be a consequence that if we were to learn more about the OPA's process and that these become more certain projects, there may be an urgency to proceed with spending on a number of these projects.


If we didn't have the approval, that could create a problem.


I know we are dealing with an issue of uncertainty at this point, so it is hard to give you a concrete answer on that, but that is sort of my views on it.


MS. LEA:  Yes.  I accept that you are in some difficulty in providing a concrete answer in this environment.  And --


MR. YOUNG:  Ms. Lea, if I could just add to that?


MS. LEA:  Yes, please.  Please.


MR. YOUNG:  I think once the ECT process begins, and certainly within 2011 and 2012, it is quite possible that quite a number of projects would then come forward.


And then Hydro One would need to have -- to make significant expenditures, you know, at that point.


So to some degree, this is a bit of a forecast and a bit of an anticipation, but if the Board does not approve that, then there would be that impact, where, you know, we wouldn't have the same level of funds available to us.


MS. LEA:  Would you not?  I mean, you're not seeking to have funds approved for recovery in the test year.


Would the --


MR. YOUNG:  Well, just the expenditure, the capital expenditure levels.


MS. LEA:  Well, let's turn to your capital budget, then, and have a look at that.  It is at Exhibit D1, tab 3, schedule 3.


And there is a useful table on page 10 of that exhibit, which provides the test year capital budget.


So that is D1, tab 3, schedule 3, page 10.


And as I understand your evidence, the Green Energy Plan investments are all under the development capital category; am I correct?


MR. YOUNG:  Yes, that's correct.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  And are you asking the Board to approve this budget?


MR. YOUNG:  Yes, we are.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  For example, if I look at the heading "bulk and regional transmission" in table 1, you have identified a $4.5 million impact in 2011 and 22.6 million in 2012.


Is this the impact of the projected CWIP in rate base for Sudbury-to-Algoma and the Northwest transmission project?


MR. YOUNG:  These are the projected capital expenditures for those projects in those years.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  So it is not related to the CWIP in rate base numbers?


MR. GREGG:  No.


MS. LEA:  So there is some capital spending from the Green Energy Plan that is planned for the test years; is that right?


MR. YOUNG:  As you mentioned, these are related to the -- these expenditures here in 2011 and 2012 for the bulk and regional transmission are related to the two projects, Algoma to Sudbury, and as well as the Northwest project.


So to the extent that we continue with those projects, do the development work, we believe that in these test years some capital expenditures may be required.  We recognize that there could be an overlap between the OM&A development work and the actual capital expenditure, early capital expenditure.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  I understood your evidence to be that you are not seeking approvals for these two projects now because you are bringing them forward in section 92 applications, and you are advising the Board of your future plans with respect to these projects; is that right?


MR. YOUNG:  That's correct.  These would be category 3 projects -- or category 4, I'm sorry.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  The reason I thought that these numbers were related to the CWIP treatment is, when I look at your Green Energy Plan at Exhibit A, tab 11, schedule 5 - Exhibit A, tab 11, schedule 5 - page 10, there is a table 3 there that shows those two projects we were just talking about and the CWIP treatment -- the accelerated cost recovery, I should be more precise, for CWIP in those categories.


And the numbers are close to or rounded, if I can put it that way, from what appears in that capital budget as indicating the proposed accelerated cost recovery of CWIP.


It also appears, I think - Mr. Mukherji is helping me - in one of your notes to your capital budget exhibit.  Perhaps -- I don't want to take the time, gentlemen, if you are unsure.  I am quite happy to take this by way of undertaking, if that assists you.


MR. ROGERS:  Very well.  I think I understand it, but better to do it by way of undertaking.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  J3.11, please, then.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  You are clear about the content of that undertaking, Ms. Lea?


MS. LEA:  Yes.  I should restate it.


To determine the relationship between the amounts in the capital budget for those two projects and the amounts referred to at page 10 of Exhibit A, tab 11, schedule 5.

UNDERTAKING NO. J3.11:  TO DETERMINE THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN THE AMOUNTS IN THE CAPITAL BUDGET FOR THOSE TWO PROJECTS AND THE AMOUNTS REFERRED TO AT PAGE 10 OF EXHIBIT A, TAB 11, SCHEDULE 5.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  Then -- one moment.


To move then to a different topic, I wonder if you could please turn to Board Staff Interrogatory 81, please?


And you gave us an answer which we did not understand in 81(b), so it is page 2 of that interrogatory.  This was an interrogatory regarding the economic calculations for one -- two projects?  Yes.


And these spreadsheets apparently were filed in another hearing.  This EB-2009-0079 hearing that is referred to on page 2 of that interrogatory, what hearing was that?  Was that a leave to construct, or something?


MR. YOUNG:  Yes, that was a leave to construct for the Commerce Way project.


MS. LEA:  All right.  Then you have attached some spreadsheets for us.  Thank you.  But then there is a note:

"The capital contributions in the attached economic evaluations differ from that documented in EB-2010-0002."


Which is this proceeding.  I simply don't understand that note.


MR. YOUNG:  Okay.  The -- in the section 92 application for Commerce Way, it was identified there that the customers' cost responsibility for that project was approximately $24 million, but its actual capital contribution is a value -- at some value less than that.


And so what happened was, in the -- if I can direct you to Exhibit D1-3-3, appendix A --


MS. LEA:  Yes.


MR. YOUNG:  -- and if you go to page 4?


MS. LEA:  Yes.


MR. YOUNG: You will notice that for the project D16 --


MS. LEA:  Yes.


MR. YOUNG:  -- we had identified that the capital contribution was 24.2 million, and that is incorrect.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  So the D exhibit is incorrect?


MR. YOUNG:  That's correct.


MS. LEA:  What about the spreadsheets attached to this interrogatory?


MR. YOUNG:  That is correct.


MS. LEA:  We have the correct spreadsheets?


MR. YOUNG:  That is correct.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.


Keeping on the theme of cost responsibility, then, I would like to talk about the short-circuit upgrades which are projects D12 and 13, and I wonder whether I could ask Mr. Thiessen to pass up to the Board Panel the excerpt from the TSC and the excerpt from the slide deck, which I provided to my friends already and sent to Hydro One last Friday?


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.


MS. LEA:  Gentlemen, you have discussed these projects already a bit with Mr. Faye, and I want to emphasize I am concentrating on Leaside and Manby, not Hearn here.


You will agree that the main trigger for the need to upgrade the short-circuit capacity in the short term - that is, for the advancement of the project - is the need to connect distributed generation in the City of Toronto?


MR. YOUNG:  Yes, renewable generation, as well as clean and high efficiency generation, as well.  Mr. Alexander indicated his desire to install further CHP in the city.


MS. LEA:  Okay, thank you.  I have exhibit numbers, then, K3.5 for the excerpts from the Transmission System Code, and K3.6 for the OPA slide deck.

EXHIBIT NO. K3.5: EXCERPTS FROM TRANSMISSION SYSTEM CODE.

EXHIBIT NO. K3.6:  OPA SLIDE DECK.

MS. LEA:  Thank you.


All right.  So in that case, then, I don't understand why you appear to propose that the cost -- that Toronto Hydro would not make a contribution to the cost of advancing the work.


MR. YOUNG:  The advancement costs would -- we believe would be properly allocated to the generators.  In this case, it's -- and these generators are typically small and that -- the first generator or the first few generators may not be in a position to fund that level.  Capital contribution from Toronto Hydro would be effectively a pass-through.


You know, by the Transmission System Code, the cost allocation of the advancement would be the responsibility of the connecting generators, except that we feel that in this case, because we need to do this work and that you really can't get the benefit of the improved short-circuit capability until you have actually completed all the work, which means you have upgraded all of the breakers -- even if you have just one component left, we can't operate the station at that level.


So rather than complicating it or further delaying the work by waiting until the necessary allocations or agreements are in place with the respective generators which are actually connecting, we believe that given that the vast majority of this project is end-of-life driven, that it should be pool-funded.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  So I understand that the majority of the spends is end-of-life issue.  For the advancement work alone, then, which is for Toronto Hydro's generator's benefit, if I can put it that way, your problem is complexity?


MR. YOUNG:  It is complexity and the concern that these -- that in establishing the generator requirements and the necessary agreements of the generators to fund this portion, that it would delay the project.


MS. LEA:  When do you plan to start the project?


MR. YOUNG:  We plan to start this project, the Leaside project, early in 2011, and the Manby project a little bit later in 2011.


MS. LEA:  I wonder whether, though, the issue that you are citing is precisely that dealt with by the Ontario Power Authority in the slide deck that I provided to you, particularly where they discuss the fact that:

"The OPA itself will work with the applicant LDC and the station asset owner to initiate development work for upgrades, and that this step may include..."


I am reading from page 65 of the slide deck.

"...this step may include meetings between applicants, LDCs and transmitters coordinated by the OPA."


Now, they're referring to an ECT period, but we know what this is going to cost, and they provided information on the record.


Cannot the OPA, Hydro One and Toronto Hydro work this out?  It appears to be exactly the type of thing which the Ontario Power Authority and, indeed, Hydro One discusses in the slide deck.


MR. YOUNG:  It may be possible, but given that, as you are aware also, that there is a delay in the ECT process, it is not clear to us when the OPA will be able to get to this.


The number of generators presently that have applications in terms of megawatt size in the Toronto area is still relatively small.


MS. LEA:  Does this have to wait for the ECT, though?  I understood from the evidence of the OPA that they had already figured out the costs, and that this particular upgrade -- which everyone acknowledges perhaps needs to be done quickly -- did not need to wait for the formal ECT, but that some sort of economic evaluation could be done, and presumably on that basis some capital contribution could be assessed.


MR. YOUNG:  I am not aware that there is sufficient levels of generation right at this point in time for the OPA to be able to do this facilitation.


MS. LEA:  And --


MR. YOUNG:  And the OPA has not indicated to us that they're at a point where they are ready to do that.


MS. LEA:  If there aren't sufficient generators to need it, why are you advancing the work?


MR. YOUNG:  The expectation is that there is going to be significant generation connected in this area.


I mean, the OPA can only work with proponents currently that have applied.  As other testimony has indicated, there is significant generation potential in central and downtown Toronto.


So in the next two to five years, there could potentially be a lot of generation.


We believe that this is the right time to be doing this upgrade work.  If we delay any further and we wait until there is more certainty around that, then as the evidence indicated in our interrogatory response to I-1-113 --


MS. LEA:  Yes.


MR. YOUNG:   -- that we could be running up into that 2015 time frame, when Toronto is hosting the Pan Am Games.


MS. LEA:  Okay.


MR. YOUNG:  And we could be running into significant coordination issues at that time.


MS. LEA:  All right.  Thank you.  I think I understand your evidence with respect to that.


I will turn to some different projects, please.  Looking now at projects D32 and D33, and these are, again, enabling transmission stations.


In these circumstances, if the line was more than two kilometres, you would need a section 92 application; is that right?


MR. YOUNG:  If there is a line involved, yes.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  And in your investment summaries of these projects -- I can give you the reference, but it is an unnumbered pages problem, so I can quote it to you.


I am looking at Exhibit D2, tab 2, schedule 3, and in that reference, with respect to D32 and 33, you say:

"As specific generators are identified, there may be capital contributions to the enabling transmission stations in accordance with the Board's amendment to the Transmission System Code."


Are there any circumstances in which this work would not involve a capital contribution from a generator?


MR. YOUNG:  I don't believe so, because these facilities are transformation facilities, expected to connect new generation in areas where there isn't generation.


So their entire purpose is to, if you will, provide a step-up facility connection to the network.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  Thank you.


I wonder if I could ask you to look at one detail with respect to these projects at Exhibit D1, tab 3, schedule 3, appendix A.  So that is D1, tab 3, schedule 3, appendix A, and it is page 6 of that appendix.


MR. YOUNG:  Yes, I have it.


MS. LEA:  You indicate in table 6 there is an amount of $8.4 million expected to be spent for each of these transmission stations in 2012.


What are the items to be -- that will drive that cost in 2012?


MR. YOUNG:  That's a projection at this time, estimating that if we become aware of enabling TS that may be required some time in 2011, then there might be some procurement activities that may be required in 2012.


MS. LEA:  So you cannot at this time itemize what might be purchased, done, undertaken in 2012?


MR. YOUNG:  No, we can't.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  I would ask you to look at Board Staff Interrogatory 118, please.  That's Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 118.


And you were talking here about projects D43 and 44.  So this is station protection and transfer trip.  Do I understand that correctly?


MR. YOUNG:  Yes.


MS. LEA:  And in answer, the (d) part of that answer, you indicate that you assume the investments would be globally pooled.


I don't understand what the reasons that you give in that interrogatory have to do with the global pooling rules in the Transmission System Code.  You see, I am trying to relate all of this to the rules in the Transmission System Code, and I don't see where these four reasons actually make that connection.


MR. YOUNG:  Well, we believe that many of these facilities are system -- or transmission system-related, rather than specifically for the purposes of addressing the distribution-connected generation connection.


As an example, D44, which is the wide area transfer trip, these facilities are needed once generation has --sufficient levels of generation have connected to our transmission load stations, and then when there are events on the transmission system, that now, because the line, the transmission line that is now connecting these stations, that when events happen and these lines are now isolated, then we need to be sure that we don't create a local island.


The reasons of the issues of a local island is not only, you know, concerns of power quality, potential damage to equipment, but also safety with respect to related personnel.


Now, while there is transfer trip facilities that are identified with respect to distribution-connected generations from a local perspective, this is -- this is from more of a system perspective.


MS. LEA:  I understand that these facilities may have benefits to the larger network system, but I would imagine that that is true of many aspects of protection and control facilities, whether installed at transformer stations or in the distribution system.


And the fact that there is a -- some benefit to the larger network, I am not sure that that actually is a complete answer to the rules that suggest that users pay in the Transmission System Code.


MR. YOUNG:  Some of these facilities will actually be installed at potentially network stations as opposed to -- because where we have to provide the -- and modify the existing transfer trip facilities on the network, it will involve modifications on relays at the terminal or network stations.


MS. LEA:  Mm-hmm.


MR. YOUNG:  Then there is also -- if I...


MS. LEA:  Sure.


MR. YOUNG:  Sorry.  There is also a number of relays at load stations throughout the province for which we have what we refer to as under frequency load shedding relays, or relays related to special protection schemes, like load rejection schemes.


And when there is distributed generation, then those schemes need to be modified to reflect the fact that the generation is now netting out some of that load.


Those schemes that I refer to are based upon a certain expectation of certain load throughout the province.  So those modifications and adjustments need to be made, and those kind of changes and modifications are included in these investments.


MS. LEA:  With respect to these sorts of investments made at connection facilities, though, you are still taking the position that they should be pool funded?


MR. YOUNG:  Well, because the P&C facilities are so highly integrated and that -- from a cost efficiency, from a resource efficiency perspective, it is very, very difficult to attribute those costs on a one-by-one basis as the generators show up.


MS. LEA:  Yes, I understand that.  Could you not track the costs of these -- of this work and link them in a staged manner as the generators come on?


There are such provisions in the TSC for -- for instance, in section 6.3.14 and 14(a), there are examples of that sort of methodology that can be applied when customers attach sequentially.


MR. YOUNG:  Yes, and we do apply that.  And if I can give you an example of where we've done that recently?


MS. LEA:  I appreciate that, but why can't you do it here, is the root of my question?


MR. YOUNG:  I think it would be -- if I can perhaps maybe provide a little bit of background first before answering that, that might help for the understanding.


Recently, we had a situation from the RES III procurement where we had four wind generators that impacted the same facility.


It so happened that the -- that they were all wind generators, which means that we were able to, in that situation, attribute the costs and benefits, roughly speaking, on a megawatt basis.


There are a lot of facilities on the P&C side where, because of the phenomena, whether it is reverse power flow or whether it is short circuit, it is not easy to be able to attribute it on a megawatt basis.


There is the other -- in the case of the transmission situation, where we happen to have the four generators, they also happen to be connecting roughly about the same time, which means that we could do these agreements within sort of a reasonable period of time and have a certain reasonable level of predictability.


And these agreements were actually quite complicated, because what you have is you have the first guy comes in, and, while -- we could recognize that what their proportion was for each of these projects, but the agreements required -- the first guy comes in.  He pays his share, but he has to provide security for the other three guys in case they don't show up.


So then the next guy, next proponent, he pays his share, but then he has to in his agreement include also security for the other two that doesn't show up.


So it is a very complicated sort of multi-party, if you will, agreement.  And it just so happens that they were of the same generation time type.  They all came in round about the same time.  Perhaps the biggest factor was that they're all relatively -- from a wind generation perspective, relatively large developers.  They have access to financing, and so they're able to enter into these kinds of arrangements more easily.


On the distribution side, where the generators are much smaller and the type of generators are much more diverse and the timing of these generators could be, you know, quite a different time apart, my belief is that there is very few situations for which you have that level of predictability to be able to sequentially order the connections and make the necessary contractual arrangements in a timely fashion so that, then, we can coordinate the work at the station in an effective manner.


And Mr. McQueen will probably -- you know, could provide further comment, but P&C resources are our most constrained resource.  So when we do P&C work, we like to do it, you know, and schedule them all at once and in combination with other work, in order to cost effectively and, from a resource effectiveness perspective, make the best use of that resource.


I mean, that resource leverages perhaps probably -- is probably the single biggest key in maximizing our ability to do the work.


MS. LEA:  Okay.


MR. YOUNG:  So I guess all of that taken -- I know that was a long explanation.


MS. LEA:  Well, that's fine.  If it is a good explanation, length is fine.


MR. YOUNG:  Just we see it as very difficult and very complicated to do that same sort of allocation on the distribution side when it comes to these P&C facilities.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  I appreciate that answer.  A few more details, please, with respect to other matters.  I wonder if you could turn up Board Staff IR 115?


In Staff IR 115, we were talking about the in-service date of project D34, and you relate -- you indicate in answer (a) that:

"Should the project in-service date be delayed ... no significant impact on the transmission system and its customers is expected if this delay coincides with the in-service date of the North-South Transmission."


Could you indicate why that is, why these things are related?


MR. YOUNG:  Yes.  The D34 project, which is the Algoma-to-Sudbury transmission, we already have an existing EA and a right of way for that project.


MS. LEA:  Oh.


MR. YOUNG:  And so at the time of the filing and at the time of the September 21st letter, when there was the list of all of these projects that we needed to do, this was one of the projects where we felt that we could perhaps do it a little bit sooner, because we have the approvals.


But, ultimately, I mean, just as with all of the transmission in the north, that until we reinforced the north-south, any major reinforcements in the north will not be able to -- won't be able to take advantage of that until you provide the capability to bring the generation from northern Ontario to southern Ontario.


So this is where in this answer we say if we defer it a couple of years, it really would not have a material impact.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  So are you still planning to spend the money that you expected to spend in 2012 on this project?


MR. YOUNG:  Algoma-Sudbury.  Subject to proceeding on the development work for this project.  So I believe in the last session we talked about a contingency on a contingency.


MS. LEA:  Yes.


MR. YOUNG:  This is the scenario.


MS. LEA:  Okay, thank you.  I would like to turn to some questions about Bruce-to-Milton, please, and your request for accelerated recovery of CWIP in that regard.


First with respect to -- with costs and some details with respect to costs, on Friday I sent to you an interrogatory from your last transmission rate case in which you indicated that you were going to enter $100 million into rate base in 2010.


Did that in fact happen?


MR. GREGG:  It did not happen.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  All right.  And you indicate that there is costing increase -- pardon me.  In Board Staff IR No. 77, you indicate there is a cost increase of about $60.5 million.


I wonder if you could break that down with estimates, at least, by the three components that you identify in that interrogatory response.  If you would rather do that by way of undertaking, that is acceptable, if you don't have the numbers.


MR. GREGG:  I think we can handle that verbally.


MS. LEA:  Okay, please.


MR. GREGG:  Is it 77?


MS. LEA:  That is the one -- I may have made a mistake.  Seventy-seven(b), so Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 77 and part (b) of that answer.  Then you give three bullet points that have driven cost overruns.


MR. McQUEEN:  We can give you a breakdown in three bullet points.  I am not sure if there is an exact alignment, but if I can -- I can walk you through them, if you like.


MS. LEA:  Please.


MR. McQUEEN:  The construction costs increased by approximately $28 million.  And this was as a result of escalation due to the year's delay in the starting of the project, and also due to the cost of the tower assembly and topping and conductor-stringing contract being higher than the estimate that was based on our internal costs.


MS. LEA:  Was that for materials or for the entire bid, labour and materials?


MR. McQUEEN:  No.  That was a labour and machinery rental contract only.


MS. LEA:  I understand.


MR. McQUEEN:  We purchased all of the materials in advance, and free-issue them to the contractor.


That is the second bullet:

"Material costs exceeded the original plan by $17 million."


That is essentially due to the commodity costs of aluminum and steel at the time we purchased them in early 2008, which was essentially at the peak of the market.  And we were competing globally for those commodities.


MS. LEA:  Could you have done something to monitor the cost of materials and avoid this kind of cost escalation?


MR. McQUEEN:  I'm sorry?


MS. LEA:  Do you monitor the costs of materials that you need to purchase?


MR. McQUEEN:  Our supply chain group has a process whereby they engage external expertise to monitor the global trends in prices of these commodities.


At the time we placed these orders, we did it for two reasons, the main one being to preserve the schedule of the project.  We were very concerned that with the delay in the approvals, that if we didn't go forward with procuring materials in the marketplace that presented itself at the time, that we would not be able to meet the in-service date when we finally did get the EA.


So there was a schedule imperative to place the orders.  The market intelligence that we were receiving from our consultants was that we could expect further increases in these commodity prices, and so we felt that it was a wise idea at the time to make the purchases and lock in the prices at what they were available to us at that point in time.


MS. LEA:  As it turned out, it would have been cheaper to wait?


MR. McQUEEN:  Hindsight, yes.  And pardon me, the third bullet was a category in our estimating process that is called "engineering and project management" which is a lot more than just pure engineering and pure project management.


Our engineering budget also includes elements of work which is managed by our engineers, fundamentally the environmental approvals process, and the specific tasks that we get involved in, such as reforestation and things that we do to ameliorate the right-of-way when we are finished.


And then also the cost of consultations with various interest groups.


All of those exceeded our original plan by $13 million.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.


I believe I -- one moment.  I am very conscious of the time.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  We will proceed to finish with this panel.


MS. LEA:  All right.  Thank you.


I gave you some notice we had some reconciliation problems with respect to a couple of the numbers in this project.


Rather than go through the workup to that through cross-examination, do you have some information you want to provide us with respect to some reconciliation between the Green Energy Plan, or I can go through it with my questions?


MR. ROGERS:  Could I -- Mr. Chairman, Ms. Lea was kind enough to alert me to this reconciliation issue.


May I suggest, this material will be put together by Mr. Struthers' group.


MS LEA:  Okay, fine.


MR. ROGERS:  If we could wait until he is here, he can answer these questions.


MS. LEA:  That's fine.  Panel 4 it is.  Thank you.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Rogers.


MS. LEA:  All right, then, gentlemen.  I think, then, with respect to Bruce-to-Milton, the rest are policy-related.


You are requesting accelerated CWIP recovery for Bruce-to-Milton now, and you are planning to ask for this treatment for the Northwest project and the Sudbury-to-Algoma project in the future.


What is it about these projects in particular that make them suitable for this treatment?


MR. GREGG:  All of these projects, as are identified in the Board's policy paper on alternative mechanisms, have the characteristics of being complex, capital-intensive projects that have significant risk profile to them.


The risks can be related to land acquisition, to approvals risk, to major consultation requirements for First Nations.


And we feel that those projects most suit the projects that are discussed in the Board policy paper.


MS. LEA:  Well, what kind of transmission projects would not fit in that category?


MR. GREGG:  Smaller transmission projects that perhaps don't have the same kind of land acquisition requirements, the same level of First Nations' consultation requirements.


There are some of these projects -- for example, the Northwest transmission reinforcement project -- where we would be consulting with approximately 20 First Nations bands at the same time.  Many bands who don't want to be in the same room with one another and often oppose one another creates a substantial risk when we're talking about projects like that.


MS. LEA:  If you consider the major projects that are in your Green Energy Plan, are any of those major projects of the type that, in your view, are not suitable for this accelerated CWIP treatment?  Or would you anticipate asking for it for all of them?


MR. GREGG:  I would anticipate asking for it for pretty much all of them.


MS LEA:  Thank you.  I wonder if I could refer you to a specific piece of the answer to Interrogatory Board Staff 122, and this goes back to the lifetime ratepayer impact.


I would like you to look at page 4, please.


That is 122, page 4, lines -– well, I guess it starts on page 3 and goes over to page 4.


You indicate -- thank you for this very comprehensive answer, by the way -- you indicate at the bottom of page 3 that:

"In this case, CWIP in rate base is actually less costly to ratepayers than the standard approach.  Although the difference is not large and it may not always be the case, the result is affected by spreads between the blended debt and equity rate-of-return and the AFUDC rate, which can vary."


So it is your evidence that we should not assume that recovering CWIP in accelerated manner will always be to the benefit of the ratepayer?


MR. GREGG:  That is correct.  It could vary on a case-by-case basis.


MS. LEA:  And can you indicate those markers that would suggest that it would not be of benefit to the ratepayer?


MR. GREGG:  We would seek to do that in the section 92 applications, when we bring them forward.


As we look at it now, it is really based on the risk profile and the capital-intensive nature.  Those are the characteristics that are driving us to consider that most of those projects would require a CWIP treatment.


But obviously, in each section 92, we would clearly articulate the details of that.


MS. LEA:  Thank you very much.  I have a few questions remaining, then.  They're all to do with OM&A, development OM&A.


Now, as I understand the OM&A costs related to the Green Energy projects or Green Energy Plan projects are in a deferral account.


But there appears to be another $7 million in indirect Green Energy Plan costs, and this is talked about at Staff Interrogatory 104, Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 104.  It is part (c).


You indicate in that interrogatory that these costs are 2 million in 2011 and 5 million in 2012.


Can you indicate for me, please, what these costs are, and where they appear in the OM&A evidence?


MR. GREGG:  I can certainly help you in terms of describing what they are.  Perhaps one of my colleagues can guide you to the evidence on that.


Really what this is, is a reflection of some of the areas of work in areas of my responsibility, particularly in the First Nations and Métis relations area, and in the external relations and major project coordination area that aren't directly attributed to the projects themselves.


I've mentioned previously in this testimony that when we do work on a specific project, we use time sheets to allocate the costs to that project and put that into a deferral account.  But there are areas of this responsibility that are not directly attributable to those projects.


The First Nations and Métis relations budget, for example, there are many parts of that that aren't project specific that could relate to ongoing relationship building, ongoing requirements, in terms of serving many First Nations communities, the development of a consultation policy generally for the company.


We have many obligations outside of the projects that are indirect costs that are referred to in this IR.


MS. LEA:  Okay, thank you.  Any indication of whether these are included in the OM&A costs in the evidence?  If not, you can take an undertaking and give me that answer.


MR. ROGERS:  I am instructed an explanation can be found at Exhibit I, tab 10, schedule 13.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  We will look at that.


MR. ROGERS:  They are a sub-component of the figures shown there, I can tell my friend, and perhaps I can suggest to point you there.  If that is not adequate, let me know and I will provide a better answer.


MS. LEA:  I can come back to it, if I need to.  Thank you.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Rogers.


MS. LEA:  Moving on to exhibit... I would like to look at Exhibit D1, tab 3, schedule 1, please.  Exhibit D1, tab 3, schedule 1, and at page 2 of that exhibit there is a table 1.


And I would like you to contrast that with -- that's a capital table.  I would like you to contrast that with Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 1, page 2.  There is a table there, as well.


MR. GREGG:  Can you repeat that last part?


MS. LEA:  Yes.  C1, tab 2, schedule 1, page 2, there is a table on that exhibit.


Looking at the table in the C exhibit -- Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 1, page 2, it appears that development OM&A has grown from about $8.4 million in 2007 to $18.9 in 2012, which is a pretty substantial increase, about 125 percent, and even in 2011 it is over a 100 percent increase.


The percentage of development OM&A as a percent of total OM&A has grown -- well, doubled again from, say, 2007 to 2011 and '12.


But if we look at the capital exhibit, which is D1, tab 3, schedule 1, page 2, table 1 there, development capital is growing to 2011, and then falling in 2012. So we have an increase to 2011, and then a decrease from -- to 2012.


I am just wondering why there isn't a fall in development OM&A expenditures in that same year.  Is there a relationship between these two measures, or am I finding a relationship that doesn't exist?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. YOUNG:  Ms. Lea, could you repeat the question?


MS LEA:  Yes.  One of these charts shows a continuing rise in 2012 in spending and the other doesn't, if I can put it in such plain terms, and I am wondering why they don't march together.  And my thought was perhaps I am trying to establish a relationship that doesn't exist between these two, although you would think that development OM&A and capital spending would have a relationship.


MR. ROGERS:  I think it is late in the day.  Even I think I know the answer, but can we take an undertaking?


MS. LEA:  Certainly.  Where are we at now?  3.12, please.  Thank you.

UNDERTAKING NO. J3.12:  TO PROVIDE A RESPONSE AS TO WHY THE TABLES IN C1, TAB 2, SCHEDULE 1, PAGE 2, TABLE 1 AND D1, TAB 3, SCHEDULE 1, PAGE 2, TABLE 1 DO NOT MATCH RE DEVELOPMENT OM&A EXPENDITURES.

MS. LEA:  In a related question, unfortunately, you have indicated in your answer to Board Staff Interrogatory 38, when talking about the cut to your revenue requirement of 25 percent, that there were -- I understand from the evidence that there were development capital costs and delays, because there are projects on hold but, again, there is no cut in development OM&A.


I think my friends may have mentioned this, as well.  I don't understand that.  Can you explain it?


MR. YOUNG:  We believe that with all the activities associated with distributed generation and the levels of distributed generation that we are seeing, that a lot of the development OM&A, outside of the development OM&A for the Schedule A projects --


MS. LEA:  Yes, I understand.


MR. YOUNG:  -- that there are a lot of issues and technologies that are emerging that we need to assess and evaluate, and a lot of this is moving very quickly.  And so we believe that the levels for -- under the category of research and development and demonstration need to continue.


With respect to the standards development, again, you know, with all of the requirements, with the GEA, as well as all of the additional requirements coming out of the North American Electric Reliability Council, that significant standards work is still -- will be necessary.


There is, in fact, a great deal of standards work that we need to do for which we're, for the time being, deferring.  So, you know, even at these levels, we would expect that development OM&A for standards work may actually increase beyond the test years.


The incremental increase, the big jump, is the addition of the development OM&A due to the smart zone work.  And the name really doesn't describe the activities well.  They're actually smart grid-related studies associated with the distribution-connected generation that will impact the transmission system.


And we have a number of activities under that category.  If I can just go through some of them just to provide --


MS. LEA:  I am not sure I need that level of detail.  If you can just refer me to the evidence, I don't want to keep this panel any longer than it has to be.


MR. ROGERS:  Coincidentally, this was going to be my only re-examination question.


MS. LEA:  Well, then, in that case, please go ahead.

Re-Examination by Mr. Rogers:


MR. ROGERS:  Mr. Warren asked the question about it.  It was a $4 million item or so, and he offered to give an explanation and he wasn't given the chance, so it would save me asking the question.  Thank you, sir.


MS. LEA:  As long as it counts as your time and not mine.


MR. ROGERS:  A very brief answer is all that is required.


MS. LEA:  Thank you very much, sir.


MR. YOUNG:  Yes, I will try to keep this brief.


The type of work under this category involves studies and -- with a number of universities, University of Western -- Waterloo and Ryerson, to do a number of different studies.


It also includes a five-year MOU to develop an electrical utility curriculum and to promote student interest in power systems.


Some of the stuff that is being looked at by these universities include things like new anti-islanding and transfer trip technologies, simulation -- system simulations and optimization of devices, and also new devices to address short-circuit issues in urban areas.


We also have projects with the Ontario Centre of Excellence.  This involves a multi-party joint venture to look at the impact of large-scale solar on our transmission system.


It is a joint project with a solar manufacturer, two LDCs, and the Universities of Western and Waterloo.


MR. ROGERS:  Mr. Young, my question, a short answer is sufficient.  Those are examples of the type of thing that you wanted to explain to, Mr. Warren?


MR. YOUNG:  Yes.


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you.


MS. LEA:  Thank you, Mr. Rogers.

Continued Cross-Examination by Ms. Lea:


MS. LEA:  My very last question, panel, I am thinking you may want to bounce to panel 4 in any event, but the reason that I was thinking of asking you this question is the interrogatory is listed under your responsibility, and it is Board Staff IR No. 4, Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 4, and it is about outsourcing.


In that interrogatory, we had asked you about a table, and we had asked you about the total savings from outsourcing.


In that IR, you say that this table at Exhibit A, tab 12, schedule 7, page 9, does not indicate outsourcing savings, but only the total dollars of outsourced work.


Am I correct about that?


MR. GREGG:  You are.


MS. LEA:  When you outsource your work, then, do you do, in fact, a calculation of the savings that this outsourcing achieves over doing the work in-house?


MR. GREGG:  We do.  Yes.


MS LEA:  And is that information in the evidence in this application?


MR. GREGG:  I don't know if it is.


MS. LEA:  Would you be willing to produce -- produce it as an undertaking?  Or describe how it is calculated?  Help us somehow.


MR. GREGG:  Could we make sure that panel 4 is prepared for that?


MS. LEA:  That is perfectly acceptable to me.  I will tell you that I am looking to understand how it is calculated, and some indication of the savings that are achieved, and how much of the decision to outsource is made with respect to:  We're going to save money.


MR. GREGG:  Mm-hmm.


MS. LEA:  Is that all panel 4?


MR. GREGG:  Yes, I believe so.


MS. LEA:  Thank you very much, gentlemen.  Those are my questions.


Thank you very much for your indulgence, Board Panel.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Quesnelle?

Questions by the Board:


MR. QUESNELLE:  I just have one area, and I think we can be quite brief on this, or I will be brief and hopefully you can accommodate that as well.


This is a continuation of a line that Ms. Lea explored, and it is probably best to turn up D1, tab 3, schedule 3, Appendix A.  This is going to the projects D 12 -- actually D 11, 12 and 13.


So that identifies -- it is the upgrades for short-circuit capability, and the rebuild of Hearn, Leaside and Manby.  Just a general question.


All three of them are either at or near end-of-life, and you are suggesting that that is part of the driver for this work.


But the -- they're in the development category, and I take it that they're there because of the upgrade for the short-circuit capabilities; is that right?


MR. YOUNG:  Yes.  We're -- on the case of Hearn, we're not doing a like-for-like replacement.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.


MR. YOUNG:  So we are doing a complete station rebuild and bringing that station up to a more modern and IESO-compliant design.


MR. QUESNELLE:  So when you do a sustaining versus development, anything that would –- and you are talking about the vintage of some of these assets being 50 years old, in that neighbourhood -- do you do any like-for-like?


Surely you are not building to 50-year-old standards, rebuilding to 50-year-old standards?


I am trying to understand what kicks something into development, when basically, what you have after the fact is a modern version of what was originally built.


MR. YOUNG:  Well, when there are -- when we identify a component that is at end-of-life, and we review whether or not we should build it like-for-like to the next available sort of modern standard equivalent, or we see if there is an opportunity to provide additional functionality or if there is an opportunity to provide additional capability.


MR. QUESNELLE:  So it is that latter one that you just mentioned that triggers the categorization of it as development as opposed to sustaining, then?


MR. YOUNG:  Yes, that's right.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Thank you.


Specifically on projects 12 and 13, that being the Leaside and the Manby -- and this may be in the form of an undertaking required here -- I am just interested in what the advancement costs would be for these projects.


We had a discussion with Ms. Lea as to what the consequence of not charging for it.  I am interested in when something is at the end-of-life and we're talking about advancement.  What would the calculation entail and how would you consider the useful life of the asset and all the things when it is near end, as these are, as has been reported on?


The reason I am –- there's a second part to this as well.  It goes to the -- your evidence is that this will allow for up to 300 megawatts of distributed generation in the Toronto area, and part of the supporting evidence is the OPA's contribution to this portion of the evidence.


And they reference the -- a report that was filed in Toronto Hydro's 2010 rates application, and that would be the Navigant Consulting report.


I would just like you to, if you can, comment on whether or not there has been any assessment from -- that you are aware of, as to what would have to happen on the distribution side to enable that 300 megawatts of distributed generation.  Or is it your evidence that just the increased capacity of the short-circuit at Manby and Leaside would enable that amount?


MR. YOUNG:  On the distribution system, there is existing capability to connect generation.


From our load transformer stations' perspective, there is, I believe, in the order of around 270 megawatts on the Manby side, and about 140 is something on the Leaside.


There is an interrogatory reference to that, that I can direct you to.  Counsel's much faster than me.


MR. ROGERS:  Oh, I'm sorry.  Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 113, page 5 of 6.  Right at the bottom of that page, you will find the information you are seeking concerning the advancement.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.


MR. YOUNG:  With respect to the answer about the capability of the -- at the distribution network, of you look on the same interrogatory at page 4, you will see the capability.  At least from the transformer load station perspective, these are the capabilities to connect generation.


On the Manby side on page 4.


Then on page, 5 you will see -- I'm sorry, I got them mixed up.


On page 4, it is the Leaside; that's at 271 megawatts.


And on the Manby system, it is 142 megawatts.


MR. QUESNELLE:  That would be at the station level, but then once you are out into the system, there would be potentially circuit work and distribution upgrades that would be required?


MR. YOUNG:  There may be, and Toronto Hydro would have to comment on that


MR. QUESNELLE:  Understood.  Okay.  Thank you very much.


Oh, one other, and this is housekeeping, but while you are on that and we still have this panel, Mr. Gregg, if you have the transcripts from September 21, which would be Tuesday, I believe, yes, Tuesday -– I'll wait for you to have that up.


I am just giving you an opportunity here.  Either I totally misunderstood your answer, or I will give you an opportunity here to update your evidence on this.


MR. GREGG:  Sure.


MR. QUESNELLE:  It is on page 97.  This is the exchange you had with Mr. Warren.  Page 97, starting at line 3, this was your response to Mr. Warren as to where the 21.5 percent came from.


If I could just ask you to read that and ask if you are happy with that, or whether or not you want to change "unsuccessful" to "successful"?


MR. GREGG:  Correct.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.


MR. GREGG:  Thank you.  Thank you for catching that.


MR. QUESNELLE:  It gets lost over time, and you look at that in isolation a year from now and –-


MR. GREGG:  I appreciate it.  Thank you.


MR. QUESNELLE:  All right.  Thank you very much.


MR. ROGERS:  No questions.  Thank you, sir.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Anything before we adjourn for the day?  Thank you very much, panel.  That is very helpful.  Thank you very much.


And we will adjourn until tomorrow morning.


MR. CROCKER:  Quick point.  AMPCO doesn't at the moment have any... sorry.


AMPCO doesn't at the moment have any cross-examination of panels 2 or 3, and so I don't intend to be here.


And Ms. Grice will monitor and, if anything comes up, I will charge down on my white horse and -- but I don't expect that to happen.


[Laughter.]


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.  Thank you very much, Mr. Crocker.  I appreciate that.  We will adjourn until tomorrow morning at 9:30, with panel 2.


MR. ROGERS: Thank you.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.


--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:57 p.m.













PUBLIC


REDACTED








PAGE  

